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Letter to our shareholders

2021 was an important step in our journey to create a future with more cheers.
After successfully transitioning our CEO leadership, we introduced our new global
purpose and evolved our strategy. Our people dream big and continued to meet
the moment to deliver strong results in a challenging operating environment.
Energized by our new purpose and guided by our strategy, we are transforming our
company from being the category leader to leading category growth.

was partially offset by anticipated transactional
FX and commodity headwinds, higher SG&A
due primarily to higher variable compensation
accruals and elevated supply chain costs. We
delivered another year of strong cash flow
generation, resulting in almost 10 billion USD of
gross debt reduction.

We grew top-line by 15.6% in FY21, comprised of

a mix of 9.6% volume and 5.5% revenue per hl
growth, driven by premiumization and revenue
management initiatives. EBITDA grew by 11.8%, at
the top end of our 2021 outlook, as top-line growth

Compared to pre-pandemic levels, we grew top-
line by more than 10% and nearly recovered EBITDA
on an organic basis.

We are energized by the momentum we This year was a unique opportunity to reimagine

built in 2021 and the journey ahead. Our what a beer company can be and our path ahead.
performance and progress demonstrate We Dream Big to Create a future with More

our team's commitment to lead category Cheers. Our renewed purpose represents what
growth. We delivered strong results while we can make possible with our unique global
supporting our colleagues, partners ecosystem. It enables us to unlock and harness
and communities through the ongoing our existing infrastructure and assets to deliver
challenging environment. The Board of more innovation, more sustainability, more
Directors and management team will occasions and more value for all our stakeholders.
remain focused on delivering on our

purpose and strategy to drive long-term

value creation.

Marty Barrington
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As part of our leadership transition we developed
L a comprehensive ten-year plan to evaluate our

global business, the key growth opportunities
and how we can leverage our ecosystem to drive
long-term value creation. This ten-year plan is the
foundation of our strategy, which is defined by
three key pillars:

Lead and grow the category

We are executing on five proven and scalable
levers to drive category expansion and deliver
consistent, balanced and profitable top-line
growth. In FY21, the beer category grew in almost
all of our key markets, and our beer volumes
reached an all-time high.

« Inclusive Category: We are making the beer
category more accessible for all consumers
through focusing on inclusive pack and product
innovation, particularly in emerging and
developing markets. Our portfolio of inclusive
brands, such as Nuestra Siembra in Ecuador and
Golden in Peru, increased revenue by double
digits.

« Core Superiority: Our mainstream portfolio

delivered 10% revenue growth and outperformed

the industry across most of our main markets.
We have rolled out our double malt innovation
concept across more than 12 brands in ten
markets, which contributed revenue of over 450
million USD this year, led by Brahma Duplo Malte
in Brazil.

This year was an important step in our
journey to create a future with more cheers.
Relentless execution of our strategy drove
continued momentum to deliver over 15%
top-line growth, EBITDA at the top-end of
our outlook and another year of strong cash
flow generation.

« Occasions Development: Our non-alcoholic
beer portfolio delivered double-digit revenue
growth driven by global brand extensions such
as Budweiser Zero and Stella 0.0, and local
launches such as Cass Zero in South Korea and
Quilmes Zero in Argentina. We continue to invest

Michel Doukeris
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in developing more occasions through liquid and

pack innovations.

« Premiumization: We continue to lead the
premium and super premium segment globally.
Our portfolio delivered over 20% revenue growth
in FY21and now represents approximately one
third of our total revenue, a 200bps increase
versus FY20. Our global brands led the way,
delivering 23% revenue growth outside of their
home markets, where they typically command a
price premium.

- Beyond Beer: Our global Beyond Beer business
grew by over 20%, contributing 1.6 billion USD of
revenue in FY21. In the US, Cutwater grew by triple
digits, and in South Africa, Brutal Fruit and Flying
Fish grew by strong double digits. Our seltzer
portfolio in the US continued to outpace the
industry, growing 1.7x the segment.

20%

revenue growth of our premium
and super premium portfolio

We continue to drive innovation across these five
levers to meet evolving consumer and customer
needs. In FY21, our innovations again contributed
more than 5 billion USD, making up approximately
10% of our total revenues. Our rolling 36 months
share of innovation increased in almost all of

our key markets. Additionally, remain focused

on embedding creativity and brand building
capabilities into the core of our business and

are honored to have been named the Creative
Marketer of the Year by Cannes Lions.
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Digitize and monetize our ecosystem

We have built a vibrant ecosystem with more than
two billion consumers and six million customers,
generating over ten million weekly transactions.
In FY21, the monthly active user base (MAU) of our
proprietary business-to-business platform, BEES,
reached 2.5 million users with over 50% of our
revenue now through digital platforms. Our omni-
channel direct-to-consumer (DTC) ecosystem of
fast-growing e-commerce platforms and 12,000+
brick and mortar retail stores generated nearly 1.5
billion USD in revenue, increasing over 35% versus
FY20.
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« Digitizing our relationships with our more than
six million customers globally: In FY21, BEES
captured approximately 20 billion USD in gross
merchandise value (GMV] with over 78 million
orders placed, a greater than éx increase
versus 2020 as usage, adoption and availability
accelerated. BEES is now live in 16 markets with
further expansion ahead in 2022.

« Leading the way in DTC solutions: Our DTC
e-commerce platforms delivered 62% revenue
growth in FY21 to reach over half a billion USD and
delivered 66 million orders, more than double
FY20. Z¢é Delivery and PerfectDraft continued

to expand rapidly, with our DTC solution now
available in 300 cities in Brazil and more than

ten countries in Latin America. PerfectDraft
contributed over 170 million USD in revenue and
expanded to 55% more households than in 2020.

Unlocking value through new businesses: We
continue to explore new ways to generate
additional value from our existing assets

and capabilities. EverGrain, our saved barley
ingredients company, expects to complete
construction on a new production facility in
2022 to meet the increasing demand for our
nutritional grain ingredients which are already
in protein shakes, barley milks and breads in the
market today.

Optimize our business

To maximize value creation, we are focused on
three areas: disciplined resource allocation,
robust risk management and an efficient capital
structure. As a result of our business performance
and strong cash flow generation, we reduced
gross debt by nearly 10 billion USD to 88.8 billion
USD as of 31 December 2021, leading to a net debt
to EBITDA ratio of 396x. This ratio is now below 4.0x
for the first time since the combination with SAB
in 2016.

We maintained a strong liquidity position of
approximately 22.2 billion USD, consisting of 10.1
billion USD available under our Sustainability-
Linked Loan Revolving Credit Facility and 12.1
billion USD of cash. We redeemed most of our
maturities due over the next five years, resulting in
a weighted average maturity of our debt portfolio
of greater than 16 years. Our bond portfolio has

a very manageable weighted average pre-tax
coupon rate of approximately 4% with 94% of the
portfolio fixed rate. In addition, on 10 January 2022,
we announced the redemption of a further 3.1
billion USD of bonds.

Of ~ B

é mMillion

customers globally

O oillion USD

reduction of gross debt in 2021
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Our business cannot exist without farmers,

clean water, healthy communities, strong
suppliers, a diverse and inclusive workforce and
thriving natural ecosystems. That mindset is the
foundation of everything we do. ESG plays a key
role in delivering on our company strategy and
purpose. The appointment of Ezgi Barcenas as our
dedicated Chief Sustainability Officer, reporting
directly to the CEOQ, further reinforced our
commitment to accelerate a broader ESG agenda.

In 2021, we continued to make significant progress
toward our ambitious 2025 Sustainability Goals.
In Sustainable Agriculture, we worked directly
with more than 22 000 farmers, of which 74%
met our criteria for skilled; 65% for connected
and 69% for financially empowered. In Water
Stewardship, 83% of our sites located in high-
stress areas have started implementation of
solutions such as infrastructure improvements,
ecosystem restoration and other nature-based
solutions. In Circular Packaging, as of the end of
2021, 74.5% of our products were in packaging
that was returnable* or made from majority
recycled content** For Climate Action, 81% of
our purchased electricity volume has been
contracted to transition to renewable electricity
and, we announced our ambition to achieve net
zero carbon across our value chain by 2040.

As the COVID-19 pandemic continued to impact
the world, the ability of our business and our
people to leverage our scale and reach to support
our communities has been truly impressive.

Many of our efforts focused on donating medical
supplies, increasing vaccine awareness and
access, and supporting the hospitality sector.

Please refer to our 2021 ESG report for further
[l details.
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Our performance in 2021 reinforces our
confidence that our unique ecosystem can deliver
consistent growth and long-term value creation.
We were recognized by Fortune as the most
admired beer company in the world.

As we look ahead, we are energized by our
momentum and unique opportunities to lead
category growth, by activating consumer
demand as the on-trade continues to re-open and
marquee events return.

Our people and our culture of ownership remain
our greatest competitive advantages; we take
this opportunity to express our gratitude and
admiration for the commitment, dedication and
engagement of our colleagues globally as we
continue to Dream Big to Create a Future with
More Cheers.

*Kegs and returnable glass bottles

**Average recycled content of cans portfolio is more than 50%

4%

of our purchased electricity
volume has been contracted
to transition to renewable

electricity
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Key figures 2021

Performance Operations People

543....  ~200  £169000

2021revenue breweries colleagues

O081./ i ~00 © 125

2021 beer volumes nationalities

represented
1 9 2 billion USD

34% of our salaried
workforce are women
(+4% since 2017)

operations in nearly
50 countries

EBITDA Brands
11 8 /O : ;1 : ; Y 58% Women 54% Women
42% Men 46% Men
organic EBITDA growth beer awards won at major international 2021 Global 2021 Global
competitions in 2021 Management Management Business
Trainee class Administration class
underlying EPS

ABInBev - Annual Report 2021 | 6




Letter to our Our purpose Who we are Where 2021in Lead and grow Digitize and monetize Optimize our Enable a sustainable
shareholders and strategy and what we brew we operate review the category our ecosystem business and inclusive future
Community support Sustainabilit

>3.5... B"M13.91%
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08 >L|' é |< metric tons @ 5 billion USD

units of hand sanitizer donated

>39 ... ©» 13.58%

decrease in water efficiency ratio since 2017

masks donated

>125

reduction in emissions (Scope 1,2 and 3) across

our value chain since 2017 per hectoliter

b

vaccination facilities supported

23

(000

vaccination campaigns supported
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Agriculture represents 12.5% of our value
chain emissions. It is part of Scope 3 within
our value chain, included in Category
“Purchased Goods and Services.

total packaging reduced from 2018-2021

@ Barley: 46.25%
@ Comn: 11.48%
@ Wheat: 012%
@ Rice: 38.65%
Sugar: 214%
@ Hops: 014%

GHG emissions by crop

@ Cassava: 0.84%
@ Sorghum: 0.26%

@ Others: 0.11%

revenue contribution from our innovations

50%+

of our global revenue is now digital

/8 e

Entrepreneurship

6,000+ &5

orders placed through our BEES platform

small retailers trained through our Escuela
Tienda Cercain Peru

8 5 start-ups

5V

are in the third cohort of our 100+ Accelerator

program
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Our global purpose

In December, we announced our new global
purpose: We Dream Big to Create a Future
with More Cheers.

As we welcomed new leadership, we reflected on
who we are, why we exist and where we are going
as we continue to build on our 600-year heritage.
The first step on this journey was to define the
role we want to play and where we want to go,

as people increasingly expect more from the
companies and brands they love.

This refreshed purpose represents what our
company and our colleagues around the world
can make possible when we dream big. It
enables us to unlock, harness and realign our
existing infrastructure and assets—to drive more
innovation, more sustainability, more occasions
and more value for all.

We are always looking to serve up new ways to
meet life's moments, dream big to move our
industry forward and make a meaningful impact
in the world. This purpose is our commitment to
building a future that everyone can celebrate and
everyone can share. We are confident that we will
make a meaningful impact across our entire value
chain, for all our customers, consumers and local
communities, as well as our 169,000 colleagues.

Hear from our
leaders and
colleagues on our
purpose

AB InBev - Annual Report 2021 | 8

We are dreaming big to create a future with more
cheers by:

« Advancing sustainability around the world

« Driving category leadership and innovation to
meet customer and consumer needs

* Leading the future growth of our industry,
reaching more consumers on more occasions
with our best-in-class portfolio

« Using data and technology to connect with our
customers and consumers

» Connecting our farmers with resources

» Making a positive and lasting impact in our local
communities around the globe in the moments
that matter

* Empowering our 169,000 colleagues who are
passionate owners and problem-solvers to lead
real change

This is our path to a more sustainable, inclusive
and rewarding future.

—

ABInBev

We Drea
With M

Big to Create a Future

WS S
By rarar

STELLA
ARTOIS

STELLA
ARTOR
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Our purpose manifesto

AB InBev always dreams big.

It's our culture and our heritage.

But more than that, it's our future.

A future where we always look forward.

Always serve up new ways to meet life's
moments.

A future where we keep dreaming bigger.

To provide opportunities for our people.

Lift up our neighbors. 1Y

- e dream
And make a meaningful impact on the i
wolls big to create
A future that everyone can celebrate. f t n t h
And everyone can share in. a u u re WI
A future with more cheers. morecC h eers _“
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Our strategy

To transform our business and create a
future with more cheers, our strategy
focuses on organic growth and leading the
category. In developing a ten-year plan, we

have identified the following areas for focus:

Our beer portfolio and footprint are like no other—
we sell one out of every four beers in the world

and account for a third of the global beer profit
pool. Beer will continue to be our core business
and represents a sizable opportunity for us and
our ecosystem. Beer is a growing and profitable
category, and we can grow it and expand it with
our global footprint, unique capabilities and
operational expertise.

We are innovating, bringing new liquids that
capture new occasions and driving incremental
growth to our current business.

We can harness the power of our existing
platforms and ecosystem to help solve problems
and to reimagine what a beer company can be.
Within the technology space, platforms such

as our business-to-business BEES platform,
direct-to-consumer e-commerce solutions and
fintech services compound the value of our core
business. In the emerging biotech field, we can
leverage our core brewing and fermentation
capabilities in new and exciting ways.
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Given these opportunities, we have evolved and
simplified our strategy into three pillars:

1

Our biggest opportunity is in the beer category,
which is inclusive, natural and local. The beer
category is inclusive—it is enjoyed by everyone,
across geographies and socioeconomic groups.
Beer is made with simple ingredients brewed
naturally. It is fundamentally local. It is made from
local ingredients grown by local farmers, and it

is often a major part of local communities and
economies.

Beer is loved, resilient and reliable.

All over the world, people are passionate

about their favorite beer brands. The COVID-

19 pandemic reinforced this truth as people
continued to remain loyal to their favorite brands.
In fact, our beer revenue in 2021 has outperformed
pre-pandemic levels.

Beer is big and profitable.

Beer is the largest single category within
consumer-packaged goods (CPG) and is the
number one driver of CPG growth, according to

Euromonitor. It has been growing in volume and
share of throat in the last five years across key
markets including Africa, Latin America and Asia.
Premium beer is growing almost twice as fast

as premium spirits over the last few years, and
beer is better positioned to further benefit from
premiumization. Euromonitor projects that beer
will grow and gain share of value and volume over
the next five years due to beer's runway to further e
premiumize as well as expected population and e
per-capita consumption growth in key beer oPgumr'ze
markets. With our footprint and ecosystem, we are
well positioned to grow, accelerate and expand
the category.

Lead and
Grow the
Category

Business

12/

Digitize and
Monetize Our

We want to move from being category
leaders to leading category growth.

Ecosystem

These simple words signal a very powerful shift in
mindset and behaviors within our company—from
inorganic to organic growth and from an internal
view to a consumer-first mindset.
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To execute on this new strategy, we have
evolved our Category Expansion Model.

We have been using our Market Maturity Model
for several years to help us understand how our
consumers and the category evolve as markets
mature. Over the last five years, we have been
refining and evolving that model, leveraging all of
the data flowing through our vast ecosystem. As
aresult, we are evolving to a consumer-first, data-
driven Category Expansion Model.

This model focuses on five proven, scalable levers
that position us to expand the category.

Our portfolio of inclusive brands increased
revenue double digits. Through scaling the
launches of our local crop brands, such as
Nuestra Siembra in Ecuador and Golden in Peru,
and focusing on inclusive pack and product
innovations, we are making the beer category
more accessible for all consumers, particularly in
emerging and developing markets.
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We are strengthening our core portfolio by
improving our products and packaging and
democratizing access to premium benefits for
the category. For example, we have rolled out our
double malt innovation concept across more than
12 brands in ten markets including Brahma Duplo
Malte in Brazil, Castle Double Malt in South Africa
and Club Colombia Doble Malta in Colombia.

We are reaching beyond traditional beer
occasions, such as sports, to in-home and meals.
Our non-alcoholic beer portfolio delivered
double-digit revenue growth driven by global
brand extensions such as Budweiser Zero and
Stella 0.0, and local launches such as Cass Zero in
South Korea and Quilmes Zero in Argentina.

We continue to lead the premium and super
premium segment globally. We are providing
consumers an opportunity to trade up through a
market-leading portfolio of premium and super
premium brands that can address nuanced and
diverse needs in these occasions. One of our
opportunities within premium is the continued
international expansion of Michelob ULTRA,
building on its success pioneering low carb, low-
calorie beer in the US.

We are playing a critical role in expanding the
category by addressing new and incremental
consumer occasions. We are growing our Beyond
Beer business with brands like Cutwater in the US,
Brutal Fruit and Flying Fish in South Africa, Beats

in Brazil and Mike's Hard Lemonade in Europe and
Latin America.

2 Billion

consumers on our digital
platforms

The second pillar of our strategy focuses on
unlocking value from our existing assets and
expanding our addressable market through the
digitization and monetization of our ecosystem.
We have built an ecosystem with approximately
200 breweries—an unmatched distribution
route to market that enables us to reach two
billion consumers and six million customers, and
generates ten million weekly transactions.

New technology capabilities have unlocked
multiple ways for us to create value from this
ecosystem. We now have a portfolio of new
businesses and products that aim to solve
customer and consumer pain points, with

the potential to create significant value for

our ecosystem. We believe their success will
significantly strengthen our beer business. These
technology innovations are positioned to have
an impact on our business and on the category
globally.

We are focusing on three areas in this space:

« Our business-to-business software and fintech
services, such as BEES

« Our direct-to-consumer e-commerce solutions,
including Zé Delivery and PerfectDraft

« Biotech initiatives that use our expertise in
scaled fermentation to create sustainable food
production
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The future is here and we are leading it.

To execute on our new strategic opportunities, we
have simplified the way we manage our business,
grouping our footprint into four clusters based on
similar macroeconomic and consumer trends. This
simplified framework makes it easier to create and
share repeatable learnings, use our global scale
and make better resource allocation decisions.
We will prioritize:

Developing markets that are seeing fast
population, economic and per capita
consumption growth across all sesgments, and, as
a result, will represent a sizable amount of growth
in global beer revenue in the future. Our goal in
these markets is to premiumize the category

and expand it through the development of new
occasions such as in-home.
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China, because of its size and unique operating
environment, is its own priority. The growth

of middle and upper economic classes is
unparalleled, and in the next ten years this part of
the population should grow faster than in the last
decade. We expect it to play a key role for us as we
continue to premiumize in the future.

Developed markets where people are typically
wealthier and older, and where consumer trends
are constantly evolving, require an innovative
approach in the market and expansion into new,
incremental segments such as Beyond Beer.

Emerging markets, which represent a sizable
population that is growing fast, even though
these markets may have lower disposable income
relative to the others. As a result, they will be

a significant opportunity for beer in the long

term. We want to make the category as inclusive
as possible and ensure that we have superior
offerings.

3

Disciplined resource allocation is essential to
optimize the growth potential of our business.
We have built a unique global ecosystem with
our iconic brands. In terms of both profitability
and cash conversion, we are best-in-class among
our fast-moving consumer goods peers, with an
EBITDA margin of around 35% and operating cash
flow as a percentage of revenue of nearly 27%.
We must allocate resources to drive growth and
profitability.

Some examples include shifting resources in the
US from our mainstream business to our premium
and Beyond Beer portfolios, investing ahead of
the industry in premiumizing the beer category in
China and investing in increasing scale in markets
like Nigeria and Mozambique.

To position our business for the future, we will
continue to devote resources for new businesses.
These are longer-term investments that extract
new value from our ecosystem. They include
initiatives such as our digital transformation with
the BEES platform, and the emerging biotech
platforms EverGrain and BioBrew.

Robust risk management

We have taken steps to de-risk and de-lever our
balance sheet. Over the past 18 months, we have
paid down more than 22 billion USD of debt and
redeemed almost all of our maturities over the
next five years. With these actions, our current
liquidity is sufficient to cover all of our maturities in
aggregate through 2027. Additionally, we have no
financial covenants on any of our debt.

Efficient capital structure

To maximize long-term value creation, we aim
to balance our capital allocation. While we
continue driving consistent profitable growth
through investing in the organic growth of our
business, we will balance our leverage, return of
cash to shareholders and selective mergers and
acquisitions to further enhance value creation.

We are energized about the future with our
simple strategy and its three pillars: lead and grow
the beer category, digitize and monetize our
ecosystem and optimize our business.

As we implement our purpose and strategy, we
believe our culture of ownership is one of our
greatest competitive advantages that will help us
unlock the value of our unique platform to create a
future with more cheers.
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Who we are and what

we brew

Our history is extraordinary, and our heritage was
built by people who were resilient in the face of
challenging times and focused on making our
world better today and for future generations. We
are building on that legacy for the next leg of the
journey.

Our culture of ownership defines who we are and
what we do. It is how we build strong teams and
deliver excellent results. It is critical that we foster
a culture where everyone feels included and
empowered, and where ideas are welcome from
everyone.

Our Dream-People-Culture platform outlines our
Ten Principles.

Learn about our 10 Principles >
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Dream
1. We dream big. We are building a profitable
growth company.

People

2. Our greatest strength is our people. Great
people grow at the pace of their talent and are
rewarded accordingly. Great people deliver
and transform.

3. We recruit, develop and retain people who can
be better than ourselves. We are measured by
the quality and diversity of our teams.

Culture

4. We are a company of owners. Owners take
results personally and lead by example.

5. We are never completely satisfied with our
results. We embrace change, take smart risks
and learn from our mistakes.

6. The consumer is our boss. We go where
consumers go, because that is where growth
is.

7. We strive to be the best at serving and
partnering with our customers, who are the
gateway to our consumers.

8. We believe in common sense and simplicity.
We operate with excellence and efficiency in
all we do, always having our customers and
consumers in mind.

9. We manage our costs tightly to free up
resources that will support profitable top-line
growth.

10. We never take shortcuts. Integrity, hard work,
quality and responsibility are key to building
our company and our reputation.

Learn more ab&pt our beer
education progga

The quality of our brands and the deep
understanding of the needs of our consumers
help us drive superior product experiences. Our
passion for beer focuses on three components.

» Growing our quality culture: Quality is at the
heart of everything we do. We have an industry-
leading global brewmaster program and
education programs such as the Academia da
Cerveja in Brazil, the Beer Academy in Russia and
Peru and the Facultad de la Cerveza in Bolivia.
We are guided by our Ten Brewing Principles and
offer beer education programs to equip our
colleagues around the world to be brand and
category ambassadors. For instance, this year
we launched our HOPPY beer culture education
platform (hoppy.ab-inbev.com) in China and Italy,
doubling its user base to over 10,000.

* Driving brand superiority: We strive to win the
hearts of consumers with the best products and

the highest-quality ingredients. For example, in
our Stella Artois Draught Masters competition in
Belgium and Italy, bartenders competed to serve
the perfect Stella Artois using a specific nine-
step pouring ritual.

* Elevating our company reputation: We infuse our
unique passion for beer in our communications.
For example, we use tapintoyourbeer.com to
offer transparency to our consumers about our
products in a simple, factual format. We also
launched a home brewing TV series that features
our brewmasters, breweries and beers—now
streaming on Amazon Prime UK.

Learn about
our Ten Brewing
Principles



https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/dream-people-culture/beer-education-for-all-brewing-the-next-generation-of-talent/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/who-we-are/our-purpose/our-principles/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/who-we-are/our-purpose/our-principles/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/what-we-do/beer-brewing/
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beer awards won: 96 bronze,

110 silver and 107 gold medals at
major international competitions
in 2021

We have been transforming our supply chain
from seed to sip. In 2021, we combined our
Supply and Procurement functions to create one
interconnected and streamlined Global Supply
Team led by Peter Kraemer, Chief Supply Officer.
This year the new team worked through supply
chain challenges, overdelivering committed
volumes and improving our packaging efficiencies
by 3% (Gross Line Yield) and productivity by 12%.
Despite headwinds coming from commodities,
labor and logistics challenges, our supply chain
remained resilient.

By innovating through discovery, development
and the scaling of technology, we are able to
deliver fresh beer to markets across the world
while keeping sustainability as a top priority. For
instance, we have implemented planning tools
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to provide visibility across the full supply chain
from supplier to customer. This gives us the
ability to react to the many challenges of the
COVID-19 pandemic and manage our revenue
while supporting the more than six million pubs,
restaurants and family-run retailers that sell and
serve our products.

To better meet our consumer needs and
demand, we established a supply security
routine to connect different sales scenarios with
available materials and the level of inventories

by pack. Additionally, we are using artificial
intelligence (Al) to perform critical tasks and to
train our colleagues through our partnership with
DeepHow, an Al-powered training platform for
manufacturers and field-service teams.

Our Global Innovation and Technology Center
(GITEC) team also helped to bring innovations to
market at improved speed and scale this year, with
an average of four months from ideation to launch,
an 18% reduction compared to 2020. An example
of this is Flying Fish Seltzer in South Africa, which
took only 75 days from ideation to launch.

Our 2025 Sustainability Goals aim to drive
progress across our supply chain, and we are
making progress locally in communities across
our zones. From our brewing process to our
packaging and more, we are innovating across our
supply chain to make an impact.

For example, in September our Ambev team in
Brazil announced that its first large brewery, Ponta
Grossa, and its first malting site, Passo Fundo,
became carbon neutral. Located in the South
region of Brazil, the brewery and the malting site
have, collectively, reduced approximately 9,700
tons of carbon dioxide (CO,) annually since

2018. Carbon neutrality refers to scope 1and 2
emissions only and includes the compensation of
emissions.

Read more about Ambev's announcement >

Since packaging makes up the largest part of our
carbon footprint, we are innovating across our
packaging to reduce our emissions. For instance,
in the UK our Budweiser Brewing Group piloted an
ultra-low-carbon Budweiser can, which represents
our lowest carbon footprint can ever produced

in Europe. This year, our GITEC team developed a
game-changing glass innovation by creating the
world's lightest longneck glass beer bottle for
commercial production. We are now exploring
how to roll out the new bottle and further
decrease our carbon footprint—the lightweight
glass bottles cut CO, emissions by an estimated
17% per bottle. Additionally, this year Corona
became the first global beverage brand with a net
zero plastic footprint globally.

Alongside our Beer Garage team, the Good
Company, a venture capital firm investing in Israeli
start-ups, and our partners, we launched our
first-ever Sustainable Supply Chain Challenge.

Six start-ups from around the world took to the
virtual stage to demonstrate how their solutions
to build a more resilient and sustainable supply
chain can become a reality. A finalist from the
program, Mi Terro, a company that upcycles

and engineers agricultural waste into a plastic
alternative biomaterial, was chosen to be part of
the third cohort of our 100+ Accelerator, a program
focused on identifying and scaling breakthrough
innovations in sustainability.



https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/sustainability/ambev-announces-its-first-carbon-neutral-brewery-and-malting-site-in-brazil/
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Creating value in our ~
supply chain

Brewers & manufacturers

We have operations in nearly 50 countries,
consisting of approximately 200 breweries
and 40 verticalized operations including
hop farms and barley malting facilities.

Our brewers and manufacturers use their
knowledge, expertise and innovation to
transform ingredients and raw materials into
a product that consumers love by brewing,
bottling, packaging and developing our

products.
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Customers

Millions of retail customers play a critical role for our

Where 2021in Lead and grow Digitize and monetize Optimize our Enable a sustainable
we operate review the category our ecosystem business and inclusive future
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Farmer sy
il Communities

We value our relationships with our farmers, who provide natural ingredients for
our products. Our mutual collaboration is a key element to creating a sustainable
supply of high-quality ingredients that our products demand. That is why we
invest in programs such as SmartBarley, our flagship agricultural development

program, which is led by our agronomists to help growers improve their

profitability and contributes toward our 2025 Sustainability Goals.

business as an important point of connection with our
consumers. We partner with retailers, bar owners and
wholesalers to bring our beers to our consumers, while
supporting their business growth, striving to provide
best-in-class service as well as pursuing extraordinary

Consumers

Of ~J

We are an integral part of the
communities where we live and work.
We strive to make a positive and

lasting impact in our communities,
advancing initiatives in areas such as
sustainability, financial inclusion, COVID-
19 vaccinations, Smart Drinking and road
safety, often through partnerships.

Distributors

Our distributors ensure our products

are available where consumers want
them. We are seeking to optimize our
operations for greater efficiency in a way
that is in line with our 2025 Sustainability

Goals.

In the last step, but perhaps the most important of all,

execution of our brands on- and off-premise. consumers enjoy our beer. We are always looking to serve up

new ways to meet life's moments, and we connect with our
consumers by offering meaningful brand experiences, in a
responsible way.
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Where we operate

We have a diverse geographic footprint spanning nearly 50
countries worldwide. Our portfolio of more than 500 iconic global
and local brands represents one in every four beers sold.

North America

18%

of global AB InBev volume

31%

of AB InBev revenue
30%

of Normalized EBITDA

n More information on the zone

Middle America

South America

LY

of global AB InBev volume

24%

of AB InBev revenue

30%

of Normalized EBITDA 5%

27%

18%

of AB InBev revenue

of Normalized EBITDA

u More information on the zone
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of global AB InBev volume

n More information on the zone

EMEA
15%

of global AB InBev volume

15%

of AB InBev revenue

13%

of Normalized EBITDA

u More information on the zone

i

APAC
15%

of global AB InBev volume

13%

of AB InBev revenue
1%

of Normalized EBITDA

n More information on the zone

*Percentages are based on share of AB InBev worldwide excluding global export and holding companies.
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Our Performance

In 2021, we continued to meet the moment and built
on our momentum to deliver a great year as we look

toward the future.

We grew top-line by 15.6%, comprised of a

mix of 9.6% volume and 5.5% revenue per hl
growth, driven by premiumization and revenue
management initiatives. EBITDA grew 11.8%, at the
top-end of our 2021 outlook, as top-line growth
was partially offset by anticipated transaction
FX and commodity headwinds, higher SG&A
due primarily to higher variable compensation
accruals and elevated supply chain costs. We
delivered another year of strong cash flow
generation, resulting in almost 10 billion USD of
gross debt reduction.

Compared to pre-pandemic levels, we grew
topline by more than 10% and nearly recovered
EBITDA on an organic basis.

AB InBev - Annual Report 2021 17
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Our performance in 2021 reinforces our
confidence that our unique ecosystem can
deliver consistent growth and long-term value
creation. As we look ahead, we are energized
by our momentum and unique opportunities to
lead category growth, by activating consumer
demand as the on-trade continues to re-open
and marquee events return.

Our people and our culture of ownership remain
our greatest competitive advantages; we take
this opportunity to express our gratitude and
admiration for the commitment, dedication and
engagement of our colleagues globally as we
continue to Dream Big to Create a Future with
More Cheers.

Lead and grow
the category

Digitize and monetize
our ecosystem

Optimize our
business

Enable a sustainable
and inclusive future
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Global highlights

We are building on our momentum
and creating a future with more
cheers.

APRIL

Our 100+ Accelerator welcomed the Coca-Cola e
. ErmraPforms by regecia
Company, Colgate-Palmolive Company and ¥ wersie Mt

TIEIIIH.fE

JANUARY

Launched EverGrain, a
sustainable ingredient
company using a

circular process that is
revolutionizing the use
of barley to deliver highly
nutritious, great-tasting,
barley-based protein and
fiber ingredients to the
world.
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FEBRUARY

Reinforcing our
commitment to

sustainability, we announced a 101 billion USD

sustainability-linked loan revolving credit

facility—the first of its kind among publicly

listed companies in the alcohol beverage
industry.

MARCH

Corona became the first
global beverage brand to
roll out six-pack cartons
made using barley straw
left over from the barley
harvest.

Expanded our seltzer
portfolio globally with
the launch of Michelob
ULTRA Seltzer in Mexico,
establishing leadership in
the nascent, but fast-
growing segment.

Unilever as new partners to jointly fund and pilot
sustainable innovation in supply chains.

MAY

Together with UNITAR and social
marketing expert Professor Jeff
French, we created a toolkit,
"Designing and Implementing
Campaigns in Support of
Vaccination Efforts to Prevent and
Reduce the Spread of COVID-19,"
to help private companies and
governments drive
vaccination and

- education efforts.

JUNE

Celebrated winning a total of 40 Cannes
Lions Awards, including four wins related
to Smart Drinking campaigns and the
“Tienda Cerca" campaign, which won

a prestigious Grand Prix Cannes Lions
Award in the Innovation Lions category—
the first ever for our in-house creative
agency, draftLine.

Invited Georgetown University's
Business for Impact to examine our
smart drinking goals and programs.

The analysis resulted in a case study
that affirmed how we have been and
continue to be an industry leader toward
reducing the harmful use of alcohol.

Opened our 10,000 Modelorama store,
located in Nuevo Leon, Mexico.

Expanded our BEES products with BEES
Force and BEES Deliver, empowering

the frontlines, including delivery and
operations crews, with new technology.
This followed the launch of BEES Partner
services, which tracks sales performance
and unpacks new customer behaviors.
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JULY

Michel Doukeris assumed the role of
Chief Executive Officer of Anheuser-
Busch InBev, succeeding Carlos Brito,
who stepped down after 15 years as
CEO.

Expanded our direct-to-consumer
courier platform to ten markets across
Latin America.

Expanded our winning double malt
concept to ten new markets this year,
including the launch of Castle Double
Malt in South Africain July.

AUGUST

SEPTEMBER

Celebrated our recognition as one of only
37 Global Compact LEAD companies for
our ongoing commitment to the UN Global
Compact, its Ten Principles for responsible
business and the related Sustainable
Development Goals.

Launched the third cohort of our 100+
Accelerator, announcing 36 start-ups that will
implement their innovative solutions in over 20
countries around the world.

Michel Doukeris, our CEQ, alongside Nikhil Seth
from the United Nations Institute for Training
and Research (UNITAR), unveiled the latest
feature of our Road Safety Toolkit—a Virtual
Immersive Experience—to provide a more
hands-on and better learning experience.

Celebrated Global Smart Drinking Week
across all of our zones to recognize the
importance of our efforts across our company
and our brands, and the wellness of people
around the world.

Continued the growth of our no- and low-
alcohol portfolio globally with the expansion
of Budweiser Zero to ten new markets and of
Stella 0.0 to five new markets, including its
launch in the US in September.

Digitize and monetize
our ecosystem

Lead and grow
the category

Optimize our
business

Enable a sustainable
and inclusive future m

R

OCTOBER

Together with UNITAR, we launched a Soci'él
Norms Toolkit to support governments and non-

AN

¢
{ .
.

governmental organizations (NGOs) around the world

by sharingltools and best practices to influence

behavio * o

\

NOVEMBER

Celebrated being part of the CDP’s
(formerly the Carbon Disclosure Project)
disclosure in 2021 by providing our
environmental data, recognizing that
transparency is essential to tracking and
accelerating our progress toward our
2025 Sustainability Goals.

Launched Budweiser’s first ever Non-
Fungible Token (NFT) collection with 1936
unique digital cans, which sold out in
less than an hour after launch. The total

New global
purpose
DECEMBER

Introduced our new global purpose and
strategy to our investors and the press at
our 2021 Investor Seminar.

Announced our ambition to achieve net
zero across our value chain by 2040.

number of digital cans represents the
year 1936, when the first Budweiser can
was created. Each Budweiser Heritage
Collection token is a one-of-a-kind digital
asset generated using designs from
throughout Budweiser's renowned history.

Ezgi Barcenas began her tenure as
our Chief Sustainability Officer,
reporting to the CEQ, reflecting our
commitment to further accelerate
our environmental, social and
governance (ESG) agenda.

Fulfilled 67 million online orders in 2021,
more than double that in 2020, through our
direct-to-consumer platform.
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Zone highlights

Highlights

* Announced Anheuser-Busch's plan to invest
more than 1billion USD in its facilities over the
next two years to drive economic prosperity in
communities across the US.

* Welcomed Brendan Whitworth to the role of Zone
President North America and Chief Executive
Officer of Anheuser-Busch, succeeding Michel
Doukeris.

* Teamed up with the White House for the
#GrabABeer campaign in the US, offering our
biggest beer giveaway ever to give eligible
adults another reason to get their vaccines.

* Maintained Michelob ULTRA's position as the

second largest brand in the US by volume and
retail sales, according to IRI.

Our key brands

CETWATIN
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* Registered triple-digit growth of Cutwater in
2021, and expanded NUTRL, the number one
vodka soda brand in Canada, to the US to
respond to consumer desire for spirit-based
seltzer.

* Introduced Stella Artois 0.0 in the US and
launched Corona Sunbrew 0.0%, the world's first
non-alcoholic beer with vitamin D, in Canada.

Zone performance

1070 million hl

Volume

1 68 billion USD

Revenue

61 billion USD

EBITDA

Zone headquarters:
St. Louis, Missouri

Of ~ B
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Highlights

* Launched Modelo Pura Malta and expanded
the Beyond Beer segment in Mexico through
innovations such as Michelob ULTRA Hard Seltzer
and Corona Agua Rifada. We also launched the
next phase of our OXXO rollout, expanding to
approximately 3,400 additional stores by January
2022.

* Announced Grupo Modelo's investment of 154
million USD to expand its glass factory in Tierra
Blanca, Veracruz, in the southeast region of
Mexico.

» Launched Cerveza Nativa, Bavaria's first beer
made from cassava produced by Colombian
farmers.

Our key brands

AB InBev - Annual Report 2021 | 21

« Saw growth across all segments of our portfolio
in Colombia, with 2021 marking the highest per
capita consumption in the country in the last 25
years.

 Launched Beck's and expanded Corona and
Stella Artois in Ecuador.

Ry’

Lead and grow

Digitize and monetize

Optimize our Enable a sustainable

the category our ecosystem business and inclusive future
Zone performance
» Fulfilled Grupo Modelo's fourth investment 'I 4‘] 4 .
in Mexican hospitals during the pandemic as . million hl
part of the award-winning #PorNuestroMéxico
movement. The investment helped equip and Volume
support a medical unit at La Pastora Hospital in
Mexico City to care for patients with COVID-19.
125 billion USD
Revenue
61 billion USD
EBITDA

Zone headquarters:
Mexico City, Mexico

Of ~ B
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Highlights Zone performance
* Innovated to drive growth with Brahma Duplo 'I 5 é é .
Malte and strengthened brand equity with . million hl
brands like Skol, Corona, Original and Beck's.
* Launched Spaten and Hoegaarden 0,0 in Brazil, Volume
and Patagonia Sendero Sur in Argentina, the
first organic beer in the country (certified by 9 5 illi
Argencert]_ . bI”IOﬂ USD
+ Set up a COVID-19 vaccination site in Argentina,
administering up to 1,000 vaccines a day to Revenue
support recovery efforts.
* Created Future Beverages, Ambev's new Business 8 ‘I .
Unit in Brazil dedicated to alcoholic beverages . | billion USD
that are different from beer. Daniela Cachich was
appointed as BU President, reporting directly to EBITDA

Zone President Jean Jereissati.

Our key brands

Zone headquarters:
S&o Paulo, Brazil

ol -
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Highlights Zone performance

* Celebrated Budweiser China's recognition as * Announced our first carbon-neutral brewery
“Excellent Beverage Supplier 2020" by the China globally in Wuhan, China. Carbon neutrality refers 8 8 4 il hl
Culture & Entertainment Industry Association to scope 1and 2 emissions only and includes the . mition
(CCEA) for its work with local governments to compensation of emissions.
Volume

support the economy and industry during the
pandemic.

* Expanded our business-to-business platform BEES
to China, and launched Corona Fresca Sea Salt
& Guava in the country, a flavored beer with no
artificial ingredients.

68 billion USD

Revenue

23 billion USD

EBITDA

» Saw continued success of our innovations, the
“All New Cass" and our new classic lager HANMAC
in South Korea, and piloted Budweiser Beats, the
brand's first non-alcoholic energy drink, in India.

» Announced BUD APAC's successful signing of a
total of 500 million USD Sustainability-Linked Loan
Revolving Credit Facilities (Green Financing Loan),
one of the largest of this kind among publicly
listed consumer goods companies in Asia Pacific.

Our key brands

Zone headquarters:
Shanghai
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» Announced the ambition to achieve net zero
operations in five major breweries by 2028,
including Magor and Samlesbury breweries in
the UK, and Leuven, Jupille and Bremen breweries
in Belgium and Germany. Budweiser Brewing
Group UK announced the first large-scale green
hydrogen generation system at a brewery.

* Launched a campaign in Belgium and UK to
support on-trade recovery. We committed to
tipping 1 GBP to staff behind the bar for every
pint of Stella Artois served, ultimately tipping
more than 500,000 GBP to 20,000 bar staff across
the country. For each Leffe beer sold in Belgium,
Leffe offered a tip of one euro to the Horeca staff.

Celebrated Beck's Unfiltered becoming the
number one innovation in Germany, and
launched Victoria in three markets. Extended
no-alcohol portfolio through Corona Cero and
Leffe Ruby 0.0.

Enhanced parental leave policy for European
colleagues, with extended weeks for primary

and secondary caregivers and more flexible
work schedules in returning to work. Primary
caregivers will see paid leave increase from 16 to
26 weeks. Paid leave for secondary caregivers will
increase from two to four weeks.

* Released Bud Light's wearable beer packs,
which are boxes that consumers can wear on
their heads, featuring the faces of players from
England’s national football team, as its official
beer sponsor during the delayed Euro 2020
tournament.

Our key brands

Epoms - : el
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Africa highlights Zone performance

867 million hl

Volume

80 billion USD

Revenue

26 billion USD

EBITDA

* Grew our global brands Corona and Stella
and our core brand Carling Black Label, while
accelerating in the Beyond Beer segment with
Brutal Fruit and Flying Fish.

* Debuted a new, refreshed look for Mosi Premium
Lager, inspired by the vast green lands of Zambia.

* Opened a new 180 million USD brewery in
Mozambique to help create jobs and stimulate
the local economy.

* Announced a R2 billion capital investment
in South African Breweries' (SAB) operations,
including upgrades to operating facilities,
installation of new equipment at selected
plants, product innovations and other necessary
operating systems.

» Announced that SAB Zenzele Kabili has
been listed on the B-BBEE segment of the
Johannesburg Stock Exchange.

* Partnered with local municipalities to implement
Alcohol Evidence Centres (AECs) to help advance
road safety, rolling out to ten new centers across
South Africa after a successful pilot program.

Zone headquarters:
Leuven, Belgium

Our key brands

Zone headquarters:
Johannesburg, South Africa
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Lead and grow
the category

Our biggest opportunity is in the beer category, which
is inclusive, natural and local. We want to move from
being the category leader to leading category growth.

Lead and
Grow the
Category
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Lead, premiumize and
grow the beer category

+ billion USD

il

We are investing in our global leadership position in the beer category through premiumization, L5 .
- T —

in revenue contributed from

driving organic growth and portfolio optimization. We are reaching more consumers on more innovations in 2021

occasions with our best-in-class portfolio of global, international, and craft and specialty
premium brands across all markets, including Budweiser, Stella Artois, Corona and

Michelob ULTRA.

Our global brands—Budweiser, Stella Artois and
Corona—delivered 22.9% revenue growth in 2021,
outside their home markets, where they typically
command a price premium.

To bring more tastes to more consumers, we are
innovating and expanding our brands into new
markets around the world. We seeded Michelob
ULTRA, our premium, low-carb, low-calorie beer, in
ten markets. The Corona brand family expanded
with Corona Fresca Sea Salt & Guava in China,

a flavored beer with no artificial ingredients. In
Canada, we launched Corona Sunbrew 0.0%—the
world's first non-alcoholic beer with vitamin D.

We also enhanced our non-alcoholic portfolio

by expanding Budweiser Zero to more than ten
markets, introducing Stella Artois 0.0 in the US and
launching Hoegaarden 0.0 in Brazil and China. In
Europe, we extended our portfolio through Corona
Cero and Leffe Ruby 0.0., while Beck's Unfiltered
became the number one innovation in Germany.
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Our double malt concept continues to grow with
the launch of Castle Double Malt in South Africa
and expansion to ten additional countries. The
first double malt beer from South Africa combines
two carefully selected South African malts and is
produced at South African Breweries' very own
local malting plants. We also launched Safari
Double Malt in Africa and Modelo Pura Malta in the
Middle America Zone.

We brought Hoegaarden and Kona to Brazil. In
Argentina, we launched Patagonia Sendero Sur,
the first organic beer in the country certified

by Argencert. Sales of the limited-edition brew
supported the preservation of the Parque
Municipal Llao Llao and the Parque Nacional Nahuel
Huapi, public parks in San Carlos de Bariloche.
Additionally, our beloved craft beer brand

Goose Island continued to broaden its footprint,
launching in Brazil and the UK in 2021, and launched
Victoria in three new markets in Europe.

S
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We connected with consumers in 2021 through
key culturalmoments, including sports, the
reopening of bars and vaccination efforts.
Campaigns with NBA star Giannis Antetokounmpo
in Brazil, Nigeria, South Africa and the US, and
global soccer legend Lionel Messi in Argentina,
Colombia, Spain, the UK and South Africa

ignited conversation on social media about the
extraordinary dreams of real people.

Celebrating the reopening of bars in 2021, we
launched the "Back to Live" campaign in Chile,
Canada, Argentina, Colombia, Uruguay and Brazil.
The campaign took place in over 1000 points of
consumption, and offered the first Budweiser for
free with proof of vaccination. In the US, we helped
raise awareness for COVID-19 vaccines by sitting
out Budweiser's iconic Super Bowl airtime for the
first time in 37 years and reallocating the media
investment toward vaccination education.
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In March, Corona launched the first 100% circular | = |

six-pack in the beer industry made with repurposed
barley straw left over from the barley harvest. The brand
pioneered a new technology that has the potential to
transform the paper industry globally. On World Oceans
Day, Corona became the first global beverage brand
with a net zero plastic footprint globally, meaning

that the brand is recovering more plastic from the
environment than it releases into the world. To further
build on Corona’s ties to nature, this year Corona
launched the top-performing Naturals campaign,
proudly stating that it is made from the natural world
with 100% natural ingredients. Local campaigns were run
in the UK, Canada, Colombia, Brazil, Argentina, Ecuador
and Paraguay.

| ¥ |

See Corona's
journey to net zero
plastic

| ¥ |

Learn about
Corona's new
barley straw
packaging

See how we supported the
hospitality industry in Europe

STELLA

TIPS

As pubs and restaurants began to reopen around
the world, Stella Artois helped the recovery. In the
UK, the Stella Tips campaign committed to tipping
1 GBP to staff behind the bar for every pint of Stella
Artois served, encouraging consumers to do the
same and start a nationwide tipping movement. In
the UK alone, we gave over 500,000 GBP in tips to
more than 20,000 bar staff.

The Your Table Is Ready campaign in the US,
Canada, Mexico, Argentina, the UK and Brazil
helped drive consumers back to their local
restaurants with the incentive of a free Stella
Artois.

In Bogotd, Colombia, Stella Artois launched Frites
Artois, a restaurant aimed at pairing the world's
best international lager with the world's best frites.
The location offers consumers an experience to
celebrate life's moments while also supporting
local farmers and businesses.


https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/brands/corona-becomes-first-global-beverage-brand-to-achieve-a-net-zero-plastic-footprint-globally/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/brands/corona-becomes-first-global-beverage-brand-to-achieve-a-net-zero-plastic-footprint-globally/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/circular-packaging/turning-barley-leftovers-into-sustainable-packaging/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/circular-packaging/turning-barley-leftovers-into-sustainable-packaging/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/circular-packaging/turning-barley-leftovers-into-sustainable-packaging/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/circular-packaging/turning-barley-leftovers-into-sustainable-packaging/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/circular-packaging/turning-barley-leftovers-into-sustainable-packaging/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/news-stories/from-tips-to-taps-rebuilding-a-thriving-hospitality-industry-in-europe/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GSlhgcP8uMM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GSlhgcP8uMM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GSlhgcP8uMM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GSlhgcP8uMM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GSlhgcP8uMM
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Grow in Beyond Beer

The Beyond Beer segment continues to be a growth driver in the industry. We are developing
our business through a strong portfolio strategy focused on premiumization and category
expansion. Our global Beyond Beer business grew by over 20%, contributing 1.6 billion USD in

. é billion USD

total revenue in 2021.

coi
r *Q%ﬁ;ﬁ

.

The FAB category aims to reach more consumers
on more occasions. Outside of the US, we have
developed a strong global brand in this category:
Mike's Hard Lemonade, whose net revenue has
increased five times since 2019. Mike's is now

in more than 18 markets, including Colombia,
Belgium, France, the Netherlands, China and the
UK, with plans to expand in Europe, South America,
Asia and Africa.

Using one of our global brands, we launched
Corona Tropical in China and Colombia, and
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revenue of our Beyond Beer brands

Corona Agua Rifada in Mexico. Several local
brands are also helping us lead in the FAB category,
including Brutal Fruit in South Africa, which is

now the leading FAB in the country, growing 96%
versus 2020. Additionally, Beats, our high-energy
FAB brand, is leading in Brazil and has grown 20%
versus 2020.

We are taking a portfolio approach to seltzer
leadership. We are using our global beer brands to
help grow the Beyond Beer segment globally. For
instance, Michelob ULTRA Hard Seltzer currently
has 48% market share in Mexico, with plans

to continue the expansion across the Middle
America Zone. We also launched Bud Light Seltzer
in the UK in April, following the brand’s success in
the US.

In North America, we launched seasonal Bud Light
Seltzer packs in the US, including a retro-themed
summer pack, a flannel-themed fall pack and an
ugly holiday sweater-themed winter pack with
flavors such as blue raspberry, pumpkin spice and
eggnog. We also expanded NUTRL, the number
one vodka soda brand in Canada, to the US to
respond to consumer desire for spirit-based
seltzer. Our seltzer portfolio in the US continued to .

L]
outpace the industry, growing 1.7x the segment. I |
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Ready-to-drink cocktails are the fastest-growing
segment in the US alcohol industry, and we
believe that the ready-to-drink category can

give consumers access to bar-quality cocktails
and expand to markets that show an appetite

for premium cocktails. For instance, Cutwater,

our canned, bar-quality cocktail line, continues

to rapidly expand. Cutwater is now the leading
ready-to-drink cocktail in the full-flavored cocktail
space in the US, with triple-digit growth in 2021.
We plan to expand Cutwater to additional markets
in 2022 to meet the global demand for premium
beverages.
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We are also exploring additional beverages to
bring even more offerings to our portfolio for more
occasions. In 2021, we expanded Black Crown Gin
& Tonic across South Africa, BABE in South Korea
and Fugi hard tea in China. We also invested in the
ready-to-drink cocktail company Canteen Spirits,
which features products including CANTEEN, a
vodka-based canned cocktail; CANTINA, a tequila-
based cocktail; and new CANTEEN Gin Spritz.

We took important steps into the non-alcoholic
beverages space. We are driving double-digit
incremental growth for the company, answering
to a wide range of consumer needs in categories
such as refreshment, energy, hydration and
socializing.

One of our biggest priorities and successes in
2021is the Accessible Energy territory. Two new
brands, Fury in Honduras and El Salvador and
Rockstar in Argentina, are solving consumers’

needs for an affordable daily energy boost option.
Further exploring this space, we piloted Budweiser
Beats, the brand’s first non-alcoholic energy drink,
in India. In Latin America, Fusion, a brand created
in Brazil and launched last year in China, is building
brand affinity with e-sports communities, drawing
millions of views in partnership with the games
Free Fire and League of Legends. Our efforts in
e-sports also expanded to other categories, like
malt. In Colombia, Pony Malta partnered with Free
Fire to launch a new flavor inspired by the game,
and created the biggest promotion in Pony Malta's
history, with access to gift codes to redeem
game-related prizes. Pony Malta also launched
the first all-female e-sports team, SHE Gaming, to
encourage more female representation.

We also expanded our strong partnership with Red
Bull, adding China and South Africa to the map and
fortifying our position in the fast-growing energy
segment.

In Brazil, Guarana Antarctica celebrated its 100th
anniversary in 2021 through a campaign that

™~

centered on what it means to be Brazilian. The
Guarand team focused on highlighting creativity
and boldness through an integrated channel
strategy to strengthen communication and
connect with adults. Guarand was the most
awarded Ambev brand at Cannes Lions in 2021.
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Digitize and monetize
our ecosystem

New technology capabilities have unlocked new ways

for us to create value from our ecosystem. With our

portfolio of new businesses and products that aim to solve
customer and consumer pain points, we believe we have

the potential to create significant value for our business.
These technology innovations are positioned to enhance our
business and the category globally. Digitize and

Monetize Our

We are focusing on three areas in this space: Ecosystem

» Our business-to-business software and fintech services,
such as BEES

* Our direct-to-consumer e-commerce solutions, including
Zé Delivery and PerfectDraft

* Biotech initiatives that use our expertise in scaled
fermentation to create sustainable food production
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Connect with our customers,
consumers and partners

We are creating new value from our ecosystem by harnessing the power of data and
technology. We are empowering our more than six million customers and more than two
billion consumers through industry-leading innovations in business-to-business and direct-
to-consumer capabilities, as 50% of our global revenue is now digital.

As we use more data and technology, digital
ethics plays a crucial role. With a strategic focus
on further digitizing our business and the way we
engage with stakeholders across our value chain,
we have built a digital ethics program that goes
beyond data protection compliance.

Learn more about our Ethics & Compliance
approach in our ESG Report >

‘ .
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Our proprietary business-to-business platform,
BEES, is now live in 16 markets, including Argentina,
Brazil, Colombia, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador,
Mexico, Panama, Peru and the latest additions,
China, South Africa and the US. Through the
platform, customers can browse products, place
orders, arrange deliveries, earn rewards, manage
invoices and access business insights all in one
place.

With more than 2.5 million monthly active users,
BEES is demonstrating an accelerated growth
trajectory, with over 20 billion USD in gross
merchandise value (GMV), totaling 78 million
orders placed in 2021. This rapid expansion has
been supported by a state-of-the-art technology
platform that we have been developing and
investing behind for several years, which aims to
enhance our relationship with customers who are
our gateway to consumers around the world.

2.5 million

BEES monthly active users

BEES has two main
commercial objectives:

1. Accelerate profitable growth in our core
business

BEES allows for a 24/7 personalized
communication channel with our customers
to ensure commercial priorities are delivered
with world-class execution and speed. We are
enabling key innovations and Al-generated
personalized recommendations that

help customers place orders in a fast and
convenient way.

Our commercial strategy, B20 (BEES-to-Offline),
includes digital platforms to improve the sales
experience for customers and consumers,
including traceable consumer coupons and
points-based customer incentives. In 2021, we
issued more than two million digital coupons
to over one million unique consumers, with

a coupon conversion rate of over 84%. Our
rewards program offers customers the
opportunity to earn bonus points that are
linked to consumer benefits. For example, in
Brazil, BEES activated specific retailers through
a soccer campaign for Brahma Duplo Malte,
resulting in approximately 110,000 retailers
participating over the course of one week, and
growing volume by ten percentage points.

Our CEO, Michel Doukeris, met with BEES customers in
the Dominican Republic in October

2. Unlock new and profitable business
opportunities

We have been evolving the way we sell and
promote products and build our brands
across all of our BEES markets. For instance, we
provide Al-generated recommendations for
gquantity and assortment personalized for each
individual customer, helping them place their
order in an easier and faster way. Today, more
than 80% of BEES customers in Brazil use our
Al-generated recommendations.

Additionally, BEES is unlocking adjacent
business opportunities through its
e-commerce marketplace. BEES Marketplace
allows customers to purchase a variety of
products manufactured by other suppliers
through our platform. This allows customers to
find their favorite products, all in one shopping
experience.


https://www.ab-inbev.com/investors/annual-and-half-year-reports/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/investors/annual-and-half-year-reports/
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Our consumers are at the center of everything
we do. We are developing direct-to-consumer
channels to provide the best experience across
all beverage occasions. Our direct-to-consumer
portfolio is made up of our fast-growing
e-commerce platforms along with approximately
12,000 brick-and-mortar retail stores to create an
ecosystem that has generated nearly 1.5 billion
USD in revenues in 2021.

During the COVID-19 lockdowns, our online
channels saw significant growth. This year, our
e-commerce platforms have fulfilled 66 million
orders, representing sales growth of 62%. As
online penetration of beer sales increases, our
direct-to-consumer platform allows us to connect
one-on-one with each consumer, gaining detailed
insights. This enables us to personalize at scale,
executing activations to drive higher consumer
lifetime value.

As a company, we are uniquely positioned to
develop a sustainable, long-term direct-to-
consumer offering for three main reasons:

« Our diverse portfolio of leading brands gives
us a differentiated value proposition, raises
awareness and drives consumer adoption.
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300

Zé Delivery is now available
in more than 300 cities in
Brazil.

« Our extensive logistics network, partnerships
with millions of retailers and footprint of owned
physical stores help to increase last-mile delivery
efficiency, promote best-in-class service levels
and ensure superior beer experiences.

» Our technology seamlessly connects these
elements into a single ecosystem that enables
us to rapidly expand to our direct-to-consumer
platforms.

This year marked the five-year anniversary of

Zé Delivery, a technology platform in Brazil that
connects consumers with retailers to deliver cold
beer straight to their doorsteps within 30 minutes.
In 2021, Zé Delivery monthly orders grew to record
levels, doubling the number of orders compared
to 2020. Z¢é Delivery is now available in roughly 300
cities across Brazil.

As aresult of Zé's success, we are integrating

all of our direct-to-consumer services into the
same structure in different markets. This includes
platforms such as Zé Delivery, Pit Stop, Chopp
Brahma Express, ModeloramaNow, Empdrio

da Cerveja, Sempre Em Casa and Coolers
Autonomos. We now have courier platforms live in
35 cities across South and Central America.

p
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As we expand our direct-to-consumer services
into other countries, we are connecting with our
physical store footprint. For example, in Mexico
we are using our Modelorama stores to create an
omnichannel experience via ModeloramaNow.

Our PerfectDraft business in Europe had a
successful year, surpassing 170 million USD in
revenue in 2021. PerfectDraft is delivering a wide
assortment of beers that consumers love with a
pub-quality home draught experience. With more
than 40 brands to explore and easy e-commerce
ordering, the service seamlessly connects our
breweries to beer lovers' homes.

To make the delivery experience more sustainable,
local and personal, Saveur Biere recently launched
anew delivery service in Paris, France, that
eliminates cardboard boxes and the need for

shipping.

Z-Tech, our technology and innovation hub, is
focused on offering digital solutions through
investments, partnerships and in-house
development of products to small- and medium-
sized businesses, including restaurants and pubs
who sell our products. In 2021, more than 270,000
small- and medium-sized businesses joined our
digital platforms, and we expanded credit and
payment pilots to South Africa and to countries in
Europe.

Z-Tech's proprietary fintech platform, Donus, is
available in Brazil and has reached over 242,000
opened digital accounts. This year Donus started
offering short- and long-term loans and has
already extended approximately 23 million USD in
credit to SMBs in Brazil. Donus also joined Pix, the
Brazilian Central Bank instant payment system,
allowing clients to make payments in real time. In
Mexico, Z-Tech's platform SiHay has offered digital
payments solutions for more than 19,000 POCs
and over 2.085 billion MXN (102.2 million USD] in
credit through third parties.

In Brazil, Z-Tech is partnering with the start-up
Lemon Energy to provide small retailers with
convenient access to renewable energy and help
reduce Scope 3 emissions generated at the point
of sale. To date, Lemon Energy has helped more
than 1900 customers, saving them a total of nearly
100,000 BRL (18,200 USD) per month. This also helps
to avoid 265 tons per month of carbon emissions,
which is equivalent to planting 4,000 trees.

We also continued to work with the Get In app

to offer small- and medium-sized businesses
access to digital tools, including digital menus
and reservation management. More than 8900
restaurants are now using the platform, with about
one million people seated, more than 200,000
monthly active users and 484,000 digital menus
used monthly in 2021.

In 2021, Z-Tech also made a new investment in
Mercafacil, a customer relationship management
(CRM]) platform focused on increasing revenue
for retailers through consumer behavior
management and an online sales integrator. This
new partnership has the potential to help small-
and medium-sized businesses increase their
revenues and manage consumer interactions in a
more efficient way.
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Unlock value from our
global platform

The world is facing extraordinary challenges. A rapidly growing population is putting
pressure on our food system, natural resources and environment. An unprecedented—and
necessary—transformation in food production is underway, including a shift away from

animals to plants as a source of protein.

We have unique assets, capabilities and expertise
that can make a meaningful contribution toward
solving these extraordinary challenges.

As a global company developed through local
communities and infrastructure, we have created
vibrant local ecosystems connecting farmers,
supply footprints, production and distribution
networks. We operate approximately 200
breweries and logistics systems in nearly 50
countries worldwide. We are the world's leading
consumer of malting barley, with more than 14,500
malting barley farmers in our direct supply chains
from the US to Uganda.

We are applying biotech advancements to our
production capabilities to help address global
food and sustainability challenges. We can scale
these solutions to create value for our partners,
shareholders and society.

We are already developing two opportunities
poised to contribute to both our company and
the development of this biotech space: EverGrain
and BioBrew.

We are the largest user of malting barley in the
world, sourcing over three million metric tons of
quality malting barley directly from 14,500 farmers
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every year. In January 2021, we launched EverGrain,
a sustainable ingredient company that is
revolutionizing the use of leftover barley from our
barley harvest to deliver highly nutritious, great-

tasting barley-based protein and fiber ingredients.

Historically in the fermentation process, we only
extracted carbohydrates from our barley, leaving
behind nutrient-rich protein and fibers. Every
year our approximately 200 breweries around the
world produce 1.4 million tons of saved grain that
contain nutritional value. This gives us a unique
opportunity to upcycle our used barley. Through
years of research and development, we have
developed the proprietary technology behind
EverGrain to extract the proteins and fibers from
those saved grains to create high-quality, plant-
based ingredients.

Our ingredients are already in protein shakes,
barley milks, breads and pastas, generating
incremental revenues for our business. We are
well positioned to meet increasing demand for

p
business

our Enable a sustainable
and inclusive future

these products. We have a pilot facility in Newark,
New Jersey, and have invested in a St. Louis facility,
which is expected to come online in 2022.

Based on population growth and modern
consumption patterns, more food will be needed
in the next 30 years than at any other pointin
human history. The application of biotechnology
to food and beverage production presents an
incredible opportunity over the next two decades,
and the market for alternative fermented protein
alone is estimated to reach 22 billion USD by 2035.

At the very core of this opportunity sits a
fundamental technology at the heart of our
business—fermentation. We have developed
specific knowledge, supporting infrastructure and
new operational processes that have potentially
wide-ranging applications in the emerging
biotechnology space.

To meet the growing global need for safe,
sustainable animal-free protein, new players need
to emerge to effectively scale these innovative
bioproducts.

That is why we launched BioBrew, a technology
platform venture from our investment and
innovation group, ZX Ventures. We are exploring
opportunities to apply large-scale fermentation
and processing expertise beyond beer. By

In 2021, we launched EverGrain during a ceremony in St. Louis

partnering with precision fermentation specialists
and using our collective fermentation assets, we
are working to develop high-margin, value-added
products.

BioBrew will eventually operate as a
biomanufacturing platform that produces
fermentation-derived proteins as a service for

its customers to help address the world's need
for alternatives to animal proteins. In early 2021,
BioBrew announced a partnership with The Every
Company™, a pioneer and leader in fermentation-
based, alternative protein. The initiative will focus
on unlocking scaled production of their innovative
animal-free egg protein.

With our scale, assets, capabilities, fermentation
capacity and expertise, our dream is to make

a meaningful contribution to help address this
global food challenge. Scaling these solutions
aims to create value for our company and our
society.

We are dreaming big in the biotech space to solve

big problems, aiming to create more value and a
future with more cheers.
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The third pillar of our new

strategy focuses on optimizing
value for our business through
strategic investments. It focuses
on three main areas: disciplined

resource allocation to drive

growth, robust risk management
and efficient capital structure.
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Invest in our future while

supporting the recovery

We are committed to driving a safe and strong post-pandemic economic recovery
across our value chain. By investing in communities and infrastructure through capital
expenditures, we are spurring growth while also supporting local economies and helping to

create jobs.

5. 5 oillion USD

in total capital expenditures

73 oillion USD

in sales and marketing
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Our strategy places significant emphasis on
innovation and finding a better way to make a
difference across the value chain. To achieve this,
we are investing in our infrastructure to modernize
our manufacturing and production.

For example, this year Anheuser-Busch announced
a plan to invest more than 1billion USD over the
next two years in its facilities to drive economic
prosperity in communities across the US. We

are fortifying our operations and strengthening
connections to our consumers through
investments in our Fort Collins brewery in
Colorado, the launch of EverGrain in St. Louis and a
solar panel investment at our Los Angeles brewery.

In Mexico, Grupo Modelo invested over 154 million
USD to expand its Tierra Blanca bottle factory in
Veracruz. This will create 300 jobs and is expected
to expand production from 3.5 million bottles per
day to 5.5 million. Ambev in Brazil announced the
investment of approximately 154 million USD in

a new factory in the state of Parana to produce
bottles made of recycled glass. The plant, which
will operate with 100% renewable electricity, is
expected to come online in 2025.

In Africa, we invested 180 million USD to open
anew brewery for Cervejas de Mogambique
(CDM] in Mozambique, employing more than
2,000 people during the construction phase and
creating 200 permanent jobs. The new facility will
be capable of producing 80,000 bottles per hour.
Additionally, South African Breweries invested

R2 billion across its South African operations to
upgrade facilities and invest in new equipment.
The investment will help boost the local economy
as the country recovers from the effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic.

In the UK, we announced a 117 GBP million
investment into our two major UK breweries

in South Wales and Lancashire to increase our
capacity and efficiency. Part of the investment was
used to create a new bottling line at our brewery
in Magor, which will supply the nation with more
beer brewed using 100% British barley and 100%
renewable electricity.

Optimize our
business

Enable a sustainable
and inclusive future
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Labatt is investing in its operations across Canada
through a 2019-2022 capital program that aims
to help fuel the economic recovery. Investments
are focused on innovation, facilities upgrades
and expansions, and sustainability, including
approximately 67 million CAD to sustainable
practices such as reducing plastic use and water
savings.

We will continue to optimize our capital allocation
to fuel initiatives, create future growth for our
company and seed innovation across our value
chain.


https://youtu.be/Gxye3FCKjss
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Robust risk Efficient capital
management structure

During the year, we continued to take steps to Deleveraging to a ratio of around 2.0x net debt
proactively de-risk and de-lever our balance sheet. . X to normalized EBITDA remains our optimal capital
We reduced our gross debt from 98.6 billion USD structure to deliver value creation. As a result
as of December 31,2020, to 88.8 billion USD as of the actions taken this year, we have made

. o net debt to EBITDA ve ;
of December 31, 2021, while maintaining a strong progress on our deleveraging path, reducing net

consisting of 10.1 billion USD available under our 2020, to 3.96x as of December 31, 2021.
Sustainability-Linked Loan Revolving Credit Facility
and 12.1 billion USD of cash.

We have redeemed the vast majority of our
maturities due over the next five years, resulting in

a weighted average maturity of our debt portfolio ~y 2 2 -

of approximately 16 years. In addition, on January billion USD

10, 2022, we announced the redemption of a
further 3.1 billion USD of bonds. total liquidity

liquidity position of approximately 22.2 billion USD, debt to EBITDA from 4.78x as of December 31,
1 O billion USD

gross debt reduction

Robust risk management: debt reduction priority has created a well-distributed
bond maturity profile
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To us, a future with more cheers is shared prosperity, for our communities,
for the planet and for our company. It is growth that is inclusive, value
that is shared, and "wins" for the world that are truly worth celebrating.
Sustainability is good business and is a foundational part of our company.

From building a resilient and agile value chain to solidifying our role as a trusted
partner in local communities to identifying and capturing new sources of business
value, Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) plays a key role in delivering on
our company strategy and purpose.

To enable a sustainable, equitable future for all, we have developed goals and
ambitions programs that build environmental resilience, reduce the harmful
consumption of alcohol and promote inclusive growth and sustainable livelihoods
across our value chain.

We believe that the future of business and of the planet is inclusive. It is nature-
based. It is local. Our commitments to improving the communities we are a part

of remains unwavering. We are proud to lead the way to that future and to be a
next-generation business today. We look ahead to 2022 and beyond with a renewed
vision and focus to create a future with more cheers through greater shared
prosperity.

n To learn more about our ESG approach and initiatives in more detail, check out our
2021 ESG Report >
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Our strategic ESG priorities

Smart Drinking o0 Water
@ & Moderation ©) Stewardship

* Influencing behavior change with social
norms through the power of our brands and
their marketing

(é Circular :\Q/: Entrepreneurship
Packaging M

» Tailored solutions are needed to address the * Innovation is key in developing sustainable, * The digital transformation of small- and
local, complex water challenges around the circular packaging medium-sized businesses scales impact

world * Investing in local recycling systems is a critical * Empowering women entrepreneurs is good

* Innovation can help unlock higher water enabler to scale circular packaging for communities and for business
efficiency and improved water security

* Providing Smart Drinking resources and
evidence-based programs to consumers
and communities « Brands can build awareness and engage * Capacity building and market linkages help

* Partnerships and multi-stakeholder consumers to think about their own sustain growth

* Expanding consumer access to No- and } - o . . ) . .
collaboration are critical for scaling impact packaging choices and recycling habits

Low-Alcohol Beer (NABLAB) alternatives

* Amplifying our Smart Drinking messages
through digital and technology

» Advocacy efforts to reduce harmful
consumption: promoting differentiation

Climate ,, Sustainable ~— Ethics & Diversity &
@ @ Agriculture Transparency Inclusion

*» Working toward a shared long-term *» Farmers are at the center of sustainable * Ethical behavior is the foundation for building * We strive to be an inclusive workplace with
ambition pushes us forward agriculture a company to last equal opportunity for all

* Short-term goals drive innovation and * Building resilience with regenerative practices * Digital ethics is key to continue building trust » We are using the power of our brands to
decarbonization today is critical to the future of farming and nature with consumers and customers inspire change

* Focusing on additionality and proximity * Technology is a key enabler of sustainable * Respecting human rights is fundamental to
accelerates the energy transition agriculture creating healthy, thriving communities

* Prioritizing health and safety is critical
for creating shared prosperity with our

colleagues
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Supporting our communities
in response to COVID-19

We are deeply connected to our communities. We have witnessed firsthand the impact
COVID-19 has had on our business partners, our colleagues and our consumers. In 2021,
many of our efforts to help our communities focused on vaccination access and awareness,
donation of medical supplies and support to the hospitality sector during the reopening.

> 3.0 wiion @{Hﬂ

units of hand sanitizer
donated

>3.9 miion @

masks donated

>125

vaccination facilities
supported

23

vaccination campaigns supported

"
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Our team in India worked with state governments,
medical institutions and NGOs to equip 50
villages in the country with over 300 oxygen
concentrators, more than 500,000 medical-grade
surgical masks and over 5,000 COVID-19 testing
kits.

Learn more about our support in India >

We purchased vaccines to help increase
availability in our communities. For instance, in
Mozambique, Cervejas de Mogambique (CDM)
donated 1 million USD toward the purchase of
vaccines.

Learn more about CDM's donation >

Using our social norms marketing capabilities,
we developed a toolkit to support the rollout
of COVID-19 vaccines. Working with the United

Nations Institute for Training and Research (UNITAR)

and Professor Jeff French, a renowned social
norms marketing expert, we created a set of
training resources that has now been deployed
across seven countries: Colombia, the Dominican
Republic, Ecuador, Mexico, Peru, Russia and South
Africa.

The toolkit is available online >

In South Africa, our team at South African
Breweries ran a vaccine awareness campaign
during Vooma Vaccination week. Initiatives also
included a vaccination drive for the restaurant
industry and donations of medical supplies to
support the local healthcare system.

Read about SAB's vaccination efforts >

e s, o

"u--l 1'L|-.| [ 1

In the spring of 2021, we lent our support to the
millions of pubs, restaurants and retailers in the
recovery across Europe. Either through Stella
Artois' tipping movement in the UK or Leffe's
donation in Belgium and Hertog Jan's special
limited-edition beer to support local hotels,
restaurants and cafés in the Netherlands, our
teams used the power of our brands to make a
positive impact in our communities.

Read more about our support to Europe's

hospitality industry >


https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/news-stories/from-medical-supplies-to-ration-kits-supporting-our-communities-battle-with-covid-19-in-india/
https://www.sab.co.za/agegate?destination=content/sab’s-total-response-pandemic-calls-ongoing-effort
https://unitar.org/sustainable-development-goals/people/our-portfolio/vaccination-and-immunization
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/news-stories/cdm-and-mozambican-minister-of-health-welcome-arrival-of-covid-19-vaccines/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/news-stories/from-tips-to-taps-rebuilding-a-thriving-hospitality-industry-in-europe/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/news-stories/from-tips-to-taps-rebuilding-a-thriving-hospitality-industry-in-europe/
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Smart Drinking &
Moderation

Beer is part of celebrating life throughout the world
and a major engine of economic activity. However,

all products containing alcohol can be consumed in
ways that cause harm. In the last decade, data from
the World Health Organization (WHO) shows that

the harmful consumption of alcohol has decreased
around the world. But more must be done. Harmful
drinking impacts our people, our communities and,
therefore, our business. As the world's leading brewer,
we are committed to accelerating continued progress
toward the reduction of harmful consumption of
alcohol worldwide.

Toward that end, in 2015 we launched our Smart
Drinking Initiative, which aimed to bring to bear

our company's resources, skills, capabilities and
convening power to contribute to the global effort to
reduce the harmful consumption of alcohol.

Since that time, we have evolved our Smart Drinking
strategy into a five-pillar program:

1: Influencing behavior change with social norms
through the power of our brands and their marketing

2: Providing Smart Drinking resources and evidence-
based programs to consumers and communities

3: Expanding consumer access to No- and Low-
Alcohol Beer (NABLAB) alternatives

4: Amplifying our Smart Drinking messages through
digital and technology

5: Promoting the adoption of evidence-based public
policy regarding alcohol
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AR Social Norms

By shaping social norms through
“social norms marketing” a
specific technique to engage with
consumers to improve behaviors
in society, it is possible to reduce
harmful consumption.

Ambition

Invest 1 billion USD across our markets
in dedicated social marketing
campaigns and related programs by
the end of 2025.

Progress

We have invested more than 450
million USD toward achieving our
goal, which includes more than 100
million USD in 2021* We are on track
to deliver our 1billion USD investment
by 2025.

© Multi-Year Pilots

Our actions to reduce harmful
drinking are evidence-based.
Results are measured for continued
improvement.

Ambition

Reduce the harmful use of alcohol by
at least 10% in six cities by the end of
2020. Implement the best practices
globally by the end of 2025.

Progress

Our city pilots program
demonstrated that there are three
interventions that can be most
impactful in reducing the harmful
effects of drinking: road safety,
responsible beverage service, and
screenings and brief intervention.

Today, in partnership with local
experts, governments, and the AB
InBev Foundation, we are supporting
72 interventions across 24 countries
that use evidence-based techniques
validated in the original city pilots.

Ulﬁ Product Portfolio

As consumers seek to make better,
more responsible choices, it is
important for them to have lower-
alcohol alternatives that give them
the flexibility to pace or taper off
their drinking over the course of a
social occasion.

Ambition

Ensure No- or Low-Alcohol Beer
products represent at least 20% of
AB InBev's global beer volume by the
end of 2025.

Progress

This year NABLAB represented 6.7%
of beer volume. While we are not on
track to meet our goal for No- and
Low-Alcohol Beers to represent 20%
of our volume by 2025, we are making
significant strides in our NABLAB
innovations. We have expanded our
NAB portfolio significantly from 26
to 42 brands over the last five years.
These NAB brands are now available
in 17 of our top 20 markets that
represent 90% of our global volume,
with LAB brands (3.5% alcohol or
below] available in 14 markets.

ﬁﬁﬁ Labeling

Our labels and secondary packaging
are a key touchpoint with consumers.
They offer a unique platform to
provide actionable advice that
research has shown potentially
influences drinking behaviors. Many
countries do not require guidance
labels.

Ambition

Place a guidance label on all of our
beer products in all of our markets
by the end of 2020. Increase alcohol
health literacy by the end of 2025.

Progress

In all countries where mandatory
labeling is not required, we updated
our label designs on 100% of our
primary product packaging to
incorporate actions that consumers
can take to reduce harmful drinking.
Updated label designs are rolling out
across markets.

*Investments from 2016 through 2019 amounting to 255.31 million USD have been reviewed and validated through prior assurance processes. The remaining investment contribution will be assured in 2022.
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Influencing behavior change with social norms
through the power of our brands and their
marketing

Four Smart Drinking campaigns won awards at the
prestigious 2021 Cannes Lions Awards, including
Aguila’s Live Responsible and Brazil's Responsible
Billboards.

Learn more about our social marketing
campaigns and initiatives >

Leading the largest voluntary alcohol labeling
initiative to reduce harmful consumption of
alcohol

In all countries where mandatory labeling is not
required, we updated our label designs on 100%
of our primary product packaging to incorporate
actions that consumers can take to reduce
harmful drinking.

Get more details about our voluntary alcohol
labeling initiative >

Amplifying our Smart Drinking messages through
digital and technology

We are investing in the development of
technology-based solutions such as age
verification tools to minimize the risk of illegal
underage drinking and other forms of harmful
drinking. We are also using our tools to amplify our
message. For example, we use our BEES platform to
embed tips and offer access to our Responsible
Beverage Service training toolkits.

Expanding access to Screening and Brief
Intervention

We are supporting the AB InBev Foundation to
expand access to Screening and Brief Intervention
(SBI), which is a preventive program that measures
an individual's drinking pattern during outpatient
or wellness visits and motivates those identified
as being at risk of harmful consumption of alcohol
to change their behavior. In Mexico, the SBI
program called ESCALEMOS, developed with the
support of the Ministry of Health in Zacatecas and
other community stakeholders, resulted in 50,000
people screened in 2021.

Learn more about SBl here >

Expanding consumer access to No- and Low-
Alcohol Beer (NABLAB) alternatives

We are making significant strides in our NABLAB
innovations. While we are not on track to meet
our goal for NABLAB beers to represent 20% of
our volume by 2025, we are expanding consumer
choice. NAB brands are now available in 17 of our
top 20 markets that represent 90% of our global
volume, and LAB brands (3.5% alcohol or below)
are available in 14 markets.

Learn more about our NABLAB portfolio >
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Advocacy efforts to reduce harmful
consumption: promoting differentiation

Evidence-based and data-driven public policy

is critical to reducing the harmful consumption
of alcohol. When regulations nudge consumers
to lower-alcohol fermented beverages, like beer,
they have the potential to reduce harm. This time-
tested approach, known as “differentiation,” is
embedded in the regulations of many countries.
We, together with other brewers, advocate for
policies that adjust excise taxes and regulations
based on the origin of the alcohol and the alcohol
content of the beverage.

SAFERR®ADS

Establishing partnerships to advance road safety

As one of the largest fleet operators in the world,
we are developing industry-leading programs
aimed at reducing road crashes associated with
alcohol consumption. With Together for Safer
Roads, we supported Houston Vision Zero, an
initiative focused on eliminating traffic deaths and
serious injuries by 2030 in the city, which is home
to one of our flagship Anheuser-Busch breweries.
Read about the program >

Expanding our collaboration with UNITAR

We partnered with the United Nations Institute
for Training and Research (UNITAR] to present
the "Management Practices for Safer Roads
Toolkit - The Immersive Virtual Experience,” and
we launched a Social Norms Toolkit to support
governments and NGOs around the world by
sharing tools and best practices to influence
behaviors.

Read about our latest work with UNITAR >


https://www.ab-inbev.com/smart-drinking/marketing-to-change-social-norms/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/smart-drinking/marketing-to-change-social-norms/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/smart-drinking/voluntary-labeling-for-all-products/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/smart-drinking/voluntary-labeling-for-all-products/
https://www.unitar.org/about/news-stories/news/unitars-virtual-immersive-experience-aims-contribute-towards-improving-road-safety-efforts
https://www.who.int/teams/mental-health-and-substance-use/alcohol-drugs-and-addictive-behaviours/alcohol/our-activities/screening-and-brief-intervention-for-alcohol-problems-in-primary-health-care
https://www.ab-inbev.com/smart-drinking/unleashing-the-power-of-nablabs/
http://www.houstontx.gov/visionzero/
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Our 2025 Sustainability
. ) . ® Assured metric
We have ambitious 2025 Sustainability Goals. Metric 2025 Goal 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 (Baseline) Please refer to External Assurance Report on page 53.
Introduced in March 2018, the goals aim for - ) . y N iti i i i
o . goe Total water use (in billion hl) n/a 1599% 1496% 16428 16328 17764  *Foradditional information regarding the KPIs scope, please
holistic environmental and social impact and - - . " - " " refer to the Report Scope section on page 51.
transformational change across our entire value }’r\:?/tr:; use by hectoliter of production 2.50 2.66 270 2.80% 295 3.09% . Our goals and data as included in the table on water. GHG
chain. Our company's leadership and a cross- N . " " . emissions per hectoliter of production and energy pertain
functional team of more than 70 colleagues Total GJ of energy (in millions) n/a 58.8» 552 61.4: 61:1 614 to our beverage facilities only and do not encompass our
. . . ® @ ® ® * i i i
designed these goals to deliver bold action today II‘:“:"C:L ?‘fs]energy purchased n/a 56.4 532 594 592 }/:g;;;l :peratlonsv such as malt plants and packaging
with measurable results that will drive long-term - - o L .
resilien nd lastin itive im t Energy usage per hectoliter of n/a 977 997 104.6 10.1* 1.6% « Total direct and indirect GHG emissions data encompass
esliience a asting positive Impact. production (in Mj/hl) beverage facilities and most vertical operations, including
The table to the rlght hlghllghts our 2021 Energy purchased per hectoliter of n/a 93.6% 96.2% 101.2%% 106.8% * malt plants and packaging facilities.
performance against key indicators related to our production (in Mj/hl) « Scope 1accounts for 67.7% of our operational emissions
2025 Sustainability Goals. Total direct and indirect GHG 4,02 L41E 471 5367 6.03% 618 and '”fc'”tde.s €0, eq“"’a'e”tfﬁoz@ from f‘f' “S‘fd ol
emissions (Scopes 1 and 2 in million manufacturing processes and in cogeneration plants tha
metric tons of CO,e) generate on-site electricity. Scope 2 accounts for about
- - - 32.3% and represents emissions from purchased electricity.
. Total direct and indirect GHG n/a 3094% 28.37% 31.8% 3121 32.35 L . . .
Please click here to access our ESG emissions (Scopes 1, 2 and 3 in million « Scope 3 emissions constitute estimates based on a mix
Report and learn more > metric tons of CO, e‘] of supplier-based numbers, global emission factors and
2 - » . " . . assumptions. Purchased Goods and Services, Upstream
— _ f‘°°feli1 an? 2 G:G f.mls[?loll('\sgeg , 477 25 6.50% 692° 8.04% 8559 and Downstream Distribution, Product Cooling (including
hEc oliter ot production (inkg ©L,e on and off premise but excluding at home cooling), and End
of Life. Around 50% of emissions are calculated with own
Scopes 1,2 and 3 GHG emissions per 445 51.21% 5313% 55.3% 570 594 data or data reported by suppliers through the CDP.
E:iZ:Icl::gr:/fh;T;oductlon *In line with our sustainability goals, energy reporting will
2 - shift to energy purchased versus energy usage. Energy
Scopes 3 GHG emissions per 397 43917 46.63 4838 4896 50.85 purchased per hl aligns with our RE100 sustainability goal of
hectoliter of production offsetting 100% of our purchased electricity with electricity
(in kg CO,e/hl) sourced from renewable resources. Energy purchased per
% Renewable Electricity: 100% 399%% 31.2%% 20.0%%* 16%* - hl was not reported for breweries acquired from SABM in
Operational** 2017.
% Renewable Electricity: Contracted** 100% 81.4%"% 70.6%" 61.3% 50% - ** For 2021, renewable electricity is reported by two metrics:
% Returnable Packaging na  364%°  364%° 409%5  435%° 46% operational electricity and contracted electricity. Our
o primary strategy is to help fund new-build renewable
% Recycled Content in primary electricity projects, and as these can take time to build,
packaging o o o o . we believe it is important to report both metrics. The
gr:: 50% 222;’0\ 297’2;)" 452;0;"& 58 ;:;f,:\f;* g;é contracted electricity metric tracks the commitments
PET ° 20'00/:% 26.0"/:9‘3 » 8°/Z“* ' 15"7%@ 210/: we have_already mad(? to our 100‘_’/o_renewable electricity
. . g . goal, while our operational electricity measures our actual
Direct farmers skilled, connected annual realization.
H 1 Kk kK
and flnancmélziﬁ:’powered 100% 74% 76% 50% - - *** 2018 recycled content percentage in primary packaging
; ) ; ) - - for cans has been updated. The data correction has been
Connected 100% 65% 57% 45% d following th + | i dit
Financially 100% 69% 60% 35% - - one following the external supplier audits.
Empowered ***% Smart Agriculture data is based on up-to-date estimates.
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Climate Action

Ambition
100% of our purchased electricity will

be from renewable sources, and we will

reduce our carbon emissions by 25%
across our value chain by 2025.

Progress

28.63%

reduction in Scopes 1and 2 GHG
emissions vs. 2017 baseline

13.06%

Three of our facilities are now carbon neutral: our
brewery in Wuhan, China, became our first carbon-
neutral facility, followed by our brewery in Ponta
Grossa, Brazil. We also announced our first carbon-
neutral malthouse in Passo Fundo, Brazil. Carbon
neutrality refers to Scopes 1and 2 emissions only
and includes the compensation of emissions.
Learn more about how we are reducing our
carbon footprint at our facilities >

In 2021 we continued to create a more sustainable
fleet by piloting and utilizing low-carbon fuel
technologies. In January, we leased 200 electric
trucks in Colombia in partnership with Renting
Colombia.

Get more details about our climate action
initiatives >

As part of our commitment to driving
decarbonization and building climate resilience
through our 2025 Sustainability Goals, we are
proud to announce our ambition to achieve net
zero across our value chain by 2040.

Learn more about our ambition to achieve net
zero >

reduction in Scopes 1,2 and 3 GHG
emissions vs 2017 baseline

399%

renewable electricity operational

81.4%

renewable electricity contracted
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This year we made significant progress toward
achieving 100% renewable electricity. In South
Africa, Castle Lite has begun to make the switch
to renewable electricity to draw less electricity
from the country's national grid and reduce GHG
emissions. Our team in the US also announced
that its entire portfolio of domestic beer and
seltzer brands in the US is now brewed with 100%
renewable electricity.

Read about Anheuser-Busch’s initiatives on
renewable electricity >


https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/sustainability/advancing-our-esg-journey-with-a-new-ambition-to-achieve-net-zero-across-our-value-chain-by-2040/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/sustainability/advancing-our-esg-journey-with-a-new-ambition-to-achieve-net-zero-across-our-value-chain-by-2040/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/sustainability/ambev-announces-its-first-carbon-neutral-brewery-and-malting-site-in-brazil/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/sustainability/ambev-announces-its-first-carbon-neutral-brewery-and-malting-site-in-brazil/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/sustainability/climate-action/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/sustainability/climate-action/
https://www.anheuser-busch.com/community/initiative/renewable-electricity/
https://www.anheuser-busch.com/community/initiative/renewable-electricity/
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Water Stewardship

Ambition

100% of our communities in high-stress
areas will have measurably improved water

availability and quality by 2025.

Progress

266 hi/hl

water use efficiency ratio

100%

of sites in scope for our goal have
conducted outreach, analyzed local
water challenges and identified
potential solutions

383%

of these sites have started
implementation of solutions

3

of these sites have begun seeing
measurable impact
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Grupo Modelo's Aquas Firmes project is working
to recharge two of Mexico's most exploited
aquifers to improve long-term water security for
the local population, farmers and local industry—
benefitting over 700,000 community members.

Click here to learn about the project >

In Peru, we are working to restore ancient water
channels called amunas to improve water
availability for nearby communities. In 2021, the
project was recognized with a Lighthouse Award
from the Brave Blue World Foundation.

Click here to access Brave Blue World's
announcement >

We use reverse osmosis technology at nearly
80 of our facilities around the world, with some
facilities having more than one reverse osmosis
installation.

We signed agreements for the next phase of

partnership with both The Nature Conservancy
and The World Wildlife Fund to continue our

watershed work together.

Read more about our work with these two
organizations >

South African Breweries is working with partners to
create an innovative artificial wetland at a brewery
site that treats the local brewery effluent and uses
the water and nutrients to irrigate a sustainable
crop of spinach for the local community.

Learn about the project >


https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/sustainability/protecting-land-water-and-livelihoods-for-a-more-sustainable-future/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/sustainability/south-african-breweries-is-turning-brewing-leftovers-into-sustainable-greens-for-local-communities/
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5f7774a68c5456195eeba577/t/617f20cf80a85b2e643efe01/1635721424019/Press+Release_Lighthouse+Awards_2021_DRAFT_10_31_21.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5f7774a68c5456195eeba577/t/617f20cf80a85b2e643efe01/1635721424019/Press+Release_Lighthouse+Awards_2021_DRAFT_10_31_21.pdf
https://www.ab-inbev.com/sustainability/water-stewardship/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/sustainability/water-stewardship/
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2021 highlights

In partnership with Rabobank, we are developing Empowering farmers to improve their soil We are working with The Nature Conservancy and
financial training programs to empower health is a critical pillar of our commitment to using transparency in our supply chain to better
smallholder farmers in Zambia, Uganda and building long-term supply chain resilience. We understand biodiversity risks and opportunities in
Tanzania. are partnering with The Nature Conservancy to our sourcing regions.
| Learn more about how we are empowering develop a framework for soil health.

farmers > | See how we are implementing the framework >

In 2020, we launched the Grower Advisory Panel

in the United States to strengthen our connection
with farmers and enable continuous improvement
in our supply chain. In 2021, the panel identified
and aligned on priority areas to be addressed,
including collaborating on soil health and water
stewardship opportunities, expanding the use

of data to make crop decisions and continuing a
focus on farm health and safety initiatives.

| Learn more about how we are addressing human
rights topics in agricultural supply chains in our
ESG Report >

Our partnership with Sentera is providing real-
time analytics and insights on their FieldAgent
platform, which integrates seamlessly with
the field data collected through our internal
SmartBarley platform.

| Learnabout the improvements to our agronomist
toolkit & predictive models from 2021 >
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https://www.ab-inbev.com/sustainability/smart-agriculture/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/sustainability/smart-agriculture/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/content/dam/universaltemplate/ab-inbev/News/Stories/how-soil-health-practices-can-help-farmers-and-the-planet/ABI_SoilHealthFramework_Overview.pdf
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/smart-agriculture/smartbarley-and-sentera-advising-our-farmers-from-afar-with-remote-sensing-technology/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/smart-agriculture/smartbarley-and-sentera-advising-our-farmers-from-afar-with-remote-sensing-technology/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/investors/annual-and-half-year-reports/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/investors/annual-and-half-year-reports/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/investors/annual-and-half-year-reports/
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Circular Packaging

Ambition

100% of our products will be in packaging
that is returnable or made from majority
recycled content by 2025.

Progress

36.4%

In 2021, Corona became the first global beverage In June, we announced the development of a
i brand with a net zero downstream operational scalable solution to produce the world's lightest
volume in returnable . . .
Kaaing in 2021 plastic footprint, meaning the brand recovers longneck beer bottle. The technology reduces a
packaging in more plastic from the environment than it bottle's weight from 180 to 150 grams, a change
releases into the world. that cuts CO, equivalent emissions by 17% per
Get the details on this milestone > bottle.

O Read more about our newest packaging
5 5 é /() innovations >

We are piloting programs with retailers where
we provide recycling collection services to their
stores and reward them with points for each
bottled recycled, which can then be redeemed
through our digital platform BEES.

recycled content in cans

4.3.8%

recycled content in glass

20.0%

recycled content in PET

Rebounce, our glass bottle recovery project
in Mexico, has recouped more than 120 million
glass bottles in 2021. These recovered bottles
were destined for single-use and instead are
being refilled with beer for a more sustainable,
returnable packaging.
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https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/circular-packaging/our-newest-beer-packaging-for-a-better-world/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/circular-packaging/our-newest-beer-packaging-for-a-better-world/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/brands/corona-becomes-first-global-beverage-brand-to-achieve-a-net-zero-plastic-footprint-globally/
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Ethics &
Transparency

The Board of Directors and our leadership
team are committed to promoting and
maintaining the highest standards of ethical
behavior and transparency. This guides
everything that we do as an organization
and serves as our foundation in creating a
future with more cheers.

We have implemented internal codes,
standards and global policies on a range

of ethical issues, including anti-bribery and
corruption, digital ethics, human rights and
anti-discrimination. These codes, standards
and policies are designed to guide and
support our colleagues and business
partners.

Further, prioritizing the health and safety

of our colleagues is a core value. We

are training our colleagues to make the
right choices for safety at all times, for
themselves and for others. Whether
brewing or delivering our products,
operating machinery, driving for work in
any vehicle or commuting, safety always
comes first. We work vigorously to achieve
high standards of health and safety in our
offices, breweries, facilities and throughout
our value chain by building an independent
safety culture through trainings, workshops
and coaching sessions. Safety metrics

are cascaded and monitored globally
through our supply and logistics safety
management systems.
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To help our colleagues in understanding and
addressing ethical dilemmas, we launched new
online trainings on a variety of topics, including
anti-corruption, supply chain ethics, digital ethics,
anti-money laundering and our COBC.

Click here for our Code of Business Conduct >

In 2021, our award-winning compliance data
analytics platform BrewRIGHT continued its
journey to improve adoption and proactive risk
monitoring.

In 2021, we developed and launched a new
supplier risk management process that integrates
core risk areas, including human rights, and we
engaged suppliers representing over 30% of our
global procurement spend.

Learn more about our approach to human rights >

To support our digital transformation, we

have created five principle-based rules to
simplify and disseminate digital ethics and
cybersecurity awareness. These rules have
reached approximately 2,000 colleagues across
key business functions in 2021 through a series of
trainings.

We continue to pursue initiatives that further
integrate safety into every aspect of our
operations. As the world's leading brewer, we aim
to be the benchmark of safety in our industry

by integrating safety into every aspect of our
operations and by developing safety leaders
throughout all levels of the organization.

See more details in our ESG Report >

2021 2020 2019 2018
Lost Time Injuries (LTls)

Supply Employees 4% 68% 98% 135%
Second-tier logistics/ 127%  125%  208% 3187
Sales Employees

Contractors (All) 15 110 262 492
Total Recordable Injuries

(TRIs)

Supply Employees (Own) ~ 241%  259% 3154  415%
Contractors (Supply)* 109

Second-tier logistics/ 694 729 1177 116
Sales (Employees +

Contractors)

Fatalities**

Supply Employees 1® o% ® 1®
Second-tier logistics/ 3% 4% ® 4®
Sales Employees

Contractors (All) 2% 3% 5% 9®

® Assured metric

Please refer to External Assurance Report on page 53.

Employees of ZX Ventures, our global investment and

innovation team (approximately 300 FTE worldwide), are

notincluded in the end of year incident data.

*Data only reported as of 2021, as internal controls
regarding the reporting of supply contractor TRIs (MDI &
MTI) were not yet sufficiently implemented in prior years,
resulting in lower data quality and robustness.

**Fatalities data do not include commuting- and

community-related fatalities as per AB InBev's reporting
definitions. The table also does not include road
fatalities of contractors who are fully managed by the
contracted firm/company.

Lost Time Injuries (LTIs)

Occupational injury resulting in more than one-day

absence from work.

Total Recordable Injuries

LTls + modified duty injuries + medical treatment injuries.

Supply Employees

Brewery and manufacturing facility employees, including

first-tier logistics.

Second-tier logistics/Sales Employees

Second-tier logistics, sales, Zone and global corporate

employees.

Commuting Fatality

Anincident that occurs while coming to work or going

homes, resulting in a fatality to our employee(s).

Community Fatalities

Fatalities that occur to people outside of our operation in

the course of doing business.


https://www.ab-inbev.com/our-policies/#codeofbusinessconduct/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/investors/annual-and-half-year-reports/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/news-stories/how-we-are-protecting-human-rights-across-our-business-value-chain-and-sponsorships/
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Entrepreneurship

Small- and medium-sized businesses play a
critical role in the economic development
of communities by generating employment,
providing vital services and contributing
toward innovation. In this regard, beer is a
formidable engine of economic growth,
and we seek to strengthen the small
businesses in our value chain through

our programs with smallholder farmers,
suppliers, retailers and recycling collectors.

We know that to sustain our business

and build inclusive, thriving communities,
we have a role to play in supporting their
development and growth by providing skills
training, mentorship, opportunities to scale
and access to needed resources such as
digital tools, financing and other critical
inputs.
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Our BEES platform is using digital tools to connect
small- and medium-sized retailers with their
consumers while also promoting digital and
financial literacy.

Learn more about our BEES platform >

In Mexico, we are providing ongoing support and

resources to retail owners of Modeloramas—

small, family-run stores with strong connections to

their neighborhoods and communities.
Get more details on our work with retailers >

In Peru, we developed “Escuela Tienda Cerca,”
a virtual training platform for small retailers to
strengthen their management, leadership and
sales skills to adapt their businesses to the new
normal of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Get more details on how we are advancing the
skills of small retailers in Latin America >

In Mexico, our team has created a supplier

development platform that is centered around
providing skills training and knowledge sharing,

supporting growth and development and
strengthening supplier relationships.

Read more about how we build relationships with

our suppliers >

In Africa and Latin America, we are innovating to
produce beer with local crops, creating market

opportunities for smallholder farmers and
strengthening agricultural communities.

Learn more about our work with smallholder
farmers >

Signature programs

100+ Accelerator

In 2021, our 100+ Accelerator program
welcomed The Coca-Cola Company,
Colgate-Palmolive Company and Unilever
as official program sponsors to help identify
key shared sustainability challenges and
and to scale breakthrough technologies.
In September 2021, we announced our
third cohort with 35 start-ups that will

be implementing solutions in over 20
countries. Seventeen of the start-ups are
women-founded, and ten are joint pilots
with our corporate partners.

u Learn more about the 100+ Accelerator
third cohort >

Eclipse: sustainability-dedicated
collaboration platform

Eclipse Activate is our program to educate
suppliers and provide them with the

tools needed to measure and track
decarbonization across their supply chains
in North America. We continuously seek
ways to collaborate with our suppliers
across our value chain and are proud to
have more than 80 suppliers participating in
the Eclipse platform.

u Learn more about Eclipse >



https://www.bees.com/about/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/sustainability/protecting-land-water-and-livelihoods-for-a-more-sustainable-future/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/sustainability/protecting-land-water-and-livelihoods-for-a-more-sustainable-future/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/suppliers/supplier-partnerships/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/suppliers/supplier-partnerships/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/news-stories/retail-franchise-ownership-is-changing-womens-lives-and-lifting-up-communities-in-bolivia/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/news-stories/retail-franchise-ownership-is-changing-womens-lives-and-lifting-up-communities-in-bolivia/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/innovation/the-modelorama-model/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/sustainability/100-accelerator-announces-36-new-startups-to-take-on-some-of-the-worlds-biggest-challenges/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/sustainability/100-accelerator-announces-36-new-startups-to-take-on-some-of-the-worlds-biggest-challenges/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/sustainability/eclipse-supplier-collaboration-platform-to-advance-progress-on-sustainable-development/
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We are proud to have our ESG efforts recognized

by leading rating and rankings agencies and
awards organizations.

WATER

CDP:

Made CDP's Water A List, earned an A- for our
CDP Climate Change response and were
celebrated as a 2021 CDP Supplier Engagement
Leader, ranked among the top 8% assessed for
supplier engagement on climate change.

Forbes [EEH]
WORLD'S TOP

Forbes:

Identified as a company leading the way when

it comes to trying to support women inside

and outside their workforces in the inaugural
ranking of the Forbes World's Top Female Friendly
Companies in 2021.

mhl i

’ \ Global Compact
€ LEAD

2021 PARTICIPANT

UN Global Compact:

Recognized as a 2021 Global Compact LEAD
participant for demonstrating ongoing
commitment to the UN Global Compact
Principles for responsible business and the
SDGs.

-

MSCI:

Rated AA by MSCI ESG Research in 2021 for our
performance on ESG issues.

i

FTSE4Good

FTSE4Good:

Listed in the FTSE4Good Index Series, which
is designed to measure the performance
of companies demonstrating strong ESG
practices.

BRAVE BLUE | WORLD

Brave Blue World Lighthouse Awards:

Recognized with a Lighthouse Award from
the Brave Blue World Foundation for our Water
Stewardship initiative focused on restoring
ancestral water channels in Peru.

2 | CANNES LIONS

Cannes Lions:

Michelob ULTRA Pure Gold took home a
prestigious Titanium Lion at the 2021 Cannes
Lions Awards for its Contract for Change
campaign, while four Smart Drinking campaigns
won, including Aguila's Live Responsible and
Brazil's Responsible Billboards.

Reuters Events Responsible Business
Awards:

Selected as winners in two award categories in
the 2021 Reuters Events Responsible Business
Awards: the Circular Transition Award for the
pioneering work of EverGrain, and the Social
Impact Award for our partnership with BanQu.
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Diversity & Inclusion

Our company must be an inclusive and
diverse workplace where everyone feels
they belong regardless of their personal
characteristics or social identities. Our
greatest strength is our people, and we
support the opportunity for every individual
to excel.

We work to continue fostering an inclusive
workplace so that everyone can succeed in
our business.

2017
Number of nationalities represented in our 122
overall workforce
Number of nationalities represented in our 48
global headquarters
Percent of women in our overall workforce 18%
Percent of women in our salaried workforce 30%
Percent of women among our top five 19%
leadership levels
Percent of women among our top three 10%
leadership levels
Percent change in D&l index in annual NA
employee engagement survey

Global Management Trainee
(GMT) Program

GMT % female 2021 2020 2019 2018
Total 58% 52% 45% 47%
Active 58% 51% 46% 49%
GMT 2021 2020 2019 2018
# nationalities
Total 34 29 35 34
Active 34 27 30 30

Learn more about our GMT Program >
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We are proud to report that we
saw a Ipp increase (87%) from
2020 in the D&I index of our
annual employee engagement
survey. Overall, we saw a 4pp

increase (88%) in our employee

engagement index from 2020 with

a 94% participation rate globally.

2018 2019 2020
122 123 121
54 55 54
18% 19% 19%
30% 31% 32%
20% 22% 24%
1% 12% 14%
Pp Opp 2pp

Global MBA (GMBA) Program

GMBA % female 2021 2020 2019
Total 54% 52% 38%
Active 54% 48% 36%
GMBA 2021 2020 2019
# nationalities

Total 10 1 10
Active 10 1 9

Learn more about our GMBA Program >

2021
125

64

21%
34%
26%

14%

Tpp

2018
52%
67%

We trained over 9,800 colleagues in bias breaking
and trained 2,475 leaders in psychological safety.

Click here to hear from one of our colleagues
how we are brewing change >

Through our Women's Leadership Program,
we provided 50 women leaders with an
immersive, personalized program. We also
launched our first Global Inclusive Leadership
Program for 80 colleagues at the Vice
President level.

Discover all the ways we are advancing
female talent >

In addition to our Global Parental Policy that was

launched in 2018, this year our Europe and Africa

Zones launched updated parental leave and

return-to-work policies to empower new parents.
Get more details on how we are supporting new
parents >

We are using the power of our brands to inspire
change. In the US, Michelob ULTRA committed to
investing 100 million USD over the next five years
to increase visibility for women's sports, and in
Argentina, our Quilmes beer brand is supporting
women's soccer.

Learn more about Michelob ULTRA's campaign >


https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/dream-people-culture/maria-degener-is-brewing-change/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/dream-people-culture/maria-degener-is-brewing-change/
https://www.linkedin.com/feed/update/urn:li:activity:6869198330962952192
https://www.linkedin.com/feed/update/urn:li:activity:6869198330962952192
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/dream-people-culture/inspiring-trailblazers-kick-off-first-of-its-kind-womens-leadership-program-at-ab-inbev/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/news-media/dream-people-culture/inspiring-trailblazers-kick-off-first-of-its-kind-womens-leadership-program-at-ab-inbev/
https://www.michelobultra.com/programs/SaveItSeeIt/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/careers/global-talent-programs/gmba/
https://www.ab-inbev.com/careers/global-talent-programs/gmba/
http://https://www.ab-inbev.com/careers/global-talent-programs/gmt/
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Report scope

The Sustainability section of the 2021 Annual Report provides information about the
progress toward our 2025 Sustainability Goals launched in March 2018. It highlights certain
elements of the 2021 Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

Alongside our environmental sustainability
and Smart Drinking initiatives, information on
Road Safety, Diversity & Inclusion, Employee
Engagement, Workplace Safety, Human

Rights, Value Chain Engagement, Community
Engagement and Business Ethics can be found
on pages 37-50 of this report. These sections are
intended to provide updates to stakeholders,
including investors, colleagues, governments,
NGOs, customers and consumers in countries
where we operate.

AB InBev prepared the 2021 Annual Report (these
chapters, ESG Report, and website] using the
Global Reporting Initiative's (GRI) Standards and
the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board
(SASB) Standards as guides. To help determine the
content developed, a materiality assessment was
conducted, which helped identify the key issues
that are of most importance to our stakeholders
and our company. Our materiality assessment may
be found in the Environment, Social & Governance
Report on page 56, and the GRl and the SASB
Indices are included in the ESG Report on pages
71-77.

Our 2025 Sustainability Goals and overall
sustainability agenda align with several of the

UN SDGs established by the United Nations in
2015. Activities throughout our operations and
supply chain are aligned to the metrics that are
considered the most material to our business
and critical to our stakeholders. We are focused
on areas where we can make the most significant
positive impact.
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The data and stories presented in this report
were gathered and verified with the assistance
of content owners across all functions and
geographic zones.

AB InBev has established processes for accurate
and consistent reporting of Smart Drinking, 2025
Sustainability Goals and Safety performance data,
as well as key performance indicators (KPIs). In

the Assurance Report of the Independent Auditor
(page 53) and in key places throughout the report
(pages 42 and 47), we have identified which
metrics have been externally assured by KPMG.

Environmental data from newly acquired
operations are excluded from the running cycle.
These facilities will be included in future reporting.
Safety data is immediately tracked and monitored
for all sites and included unless otherwise stated
in text or footnotes. For all environmental and
safety data, divestitures and closures are removed
from the scope for the reporting year, but prior
years are not adjusted.

End-of-year incident data in this report is captured
in mid-January of the following year and validated
based on information from that point in time.
Injuries may develop and change status based on
further medical diagnosis, treatment and incident
management. This is a consistent practice to
enable accurate year-over-year data comparison
of a single point in time. Subsequent changes

to the injury classification in the years following
the reporting year are not taken into account for
the current year's reporting purposes nor in the
comparative data of prior years.

Global goals on water, energy purchased and
GHG emissions presented in this report, as well

as KPIs such as energy usage, include AB InBev's
wholly owned operations, which includes both our
beverage and vertical operations unless stated
otherwise in text or footnotes. Energy use and
purchased excludes the energy exported to third
parties and certain projects under construction.
The excluded energy use and purchase does not
reflect the amount of energy used in our beer-
brewing processes. For our beverage and vertical
operations, including malting and packaging
facilities, we use our VPO global management
system. The key performance indicators energy
usage, water usage and Scopes 1and 2 emissions
per hectoliter of production (in kg CO, /hl)
exclude vertical operations. This data is reported
annually to CDP. Specific data tables contain
footnotes for additional data. Special Operations
(SOPs), which are operations that fulfill one

or more criteria including, but not limited to:
reduced volume, low number of FTEs, complexity
of brand mix and unusual products or production
processes, are excluded from the reporting scope.
The potential impact of the 74 SOPs facilities
accounted for in 2021 is estimated to be 2.2% of
the total Scopes 1and 2 emissions. The following
assumptions are applied for the calculation of this
percentage: (1) country average Scopes 1and 2
emissions per hlis applied, (2) average production
volume per country is applied, (3] for experimental
centers, the tons of CO, applied are the same as
the ones for small facilities, and (4) for the SOPs

verticalized operations, emissions averages from
larger existing sites apply.

For 2021, renewable electricity is reported by two
metrics: operational electricity and contracted
electricity. Our primary strategy is to help fund
new-build renewable electricity projects, and

as these can take time to build, we believe it is
important to report both metrics. The contracted
electricity metric tracks the commitments

we have already made to our 100% renewable
electricity goal, while our operational electricity
measures our actual annual realization.

For recycled content calculation, a weighted
average of recycled content is calculated

based on purchases for each supplier and
recycled content in the material. Our packaging
goal applies to our primary packaging, which
represents more than 83% of our total packaging
volume by weight globally, though our work in
circularity extends to secondary packaging

and post-consumer waste. For packaging

that is not returnable—namely one-way glass
bottles, aluminum cans and PET bottles—we

are committed to reaching a minimum of 50%
recycled content. Data on recycled content
percentage is provided by suppliers and tracked
on aregular basis. Packaging purchases are
derived from AB InBev's owned procurement
system. In 2019 we started with suppliers' audits to
further assess reliability of the recycled content
data. While we were not able to complete planned
visits due to COVID-19 in 2020 and again in

2021, we were still able to engage with suppliers
virtually, discussing their key performance



Letter to our
shareholders

Our purpose
and strategy

Who we are Where 2021in
and what we brew

Lead and grow
the category

Digitize and monetize
our ecosystem

we operate review

Optimize our
business

Enable a sustainable
and inclusive future

indicators, measurements and main projects to
enable improving recycled content. We were
able to run several engagements across different
zones and categories, and we collected data from
our suppliers to calculate our recycled content
progress. Our aim in 2022 is to be able to resume
our suppliers' audits. Corona's Net Zero Plastic
Footprint refers to the brand recovering more
plastic from the environment than it releases into
the world. Achieving this milestone comes after
an extensive external assessment by South Pole,
a leading climate solutions provider, of Corona's
global operations against the 3Rl Corporate
Plastic Stewardship Guidelines. The brand also
followed the Verra Plastic Waste Reduction
Standard to calculate the impact of Corona's
mitigation activities.

For Scopes 1and 2 emissions calculation, the
facilities in scope described above are included.
Scope 3 emissions, which account for information
beyond our operations and that impact our supply
chain, are estimated values based on a mix of own
and third-party data. Total percentage of Scope

3 emissions follows the Science Based Target
initiative, where at least 66% of emissions are to
be included in target scope. Approximately 50%
of Scope 3 data is own data and data provided by
suppliers via CDP. CDP data is used to calculate
supplier-based emissions of raw and packaging
materials used in the manufacturing of beer.

This hybrid approach has been validated by the
Science Based Target initiative, which entails

a mix of own data, supplier data and market
estimates. Scope 3 includes the following out of
the 15 categories: Purchased Goods and Services,
Upstream and Downstream Distribution, Emissions
Related to Fuel Use Not Included in Scopes 1and
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2, Use of Product (Product Cooling including on
and off premise and excluding home cooling) and
end of product life. Categories excluded include:
Capital Goods, Waste Generated in Operations
(more than 99% of waste generated is recycled),
Business Travel, Employee Commuting, Upstream
and Downstream Leased Assets, Processing of
Sold Products, Franchises, Investments. These
categories represent approximately less than 10%
of total Scope 3 emissions.

This report contains forward-looking statements
regarding estimations into the future. These
generally include words and/ or phrases such

" ou "o

as “will likely result”, *aims to", "will continue”,

" ou now

“is anticipated", "it is estimated", "anticipate”,

"o "o "o

“estimate”, "project”, “result”, “is predicted",
“may", "might”, “could", "believe”, "expect”, “plan”,
“potential”, or other similar expressions. These
statements are subject to uncertainties and are
out of scope of assurance. Actual results may
differ from those stated in this report due to
causes but not limited to the impact of climate
change, water stress, financial distress, negative
publicity, our availability to hire and/or retain the
best talent, emerging regulations and reputation
of our brands, the ability to make acquisitions
and/or divest divisions, access to capital, volatility
in the stock market, exposure to litigation and
other associated risks not mentioned, as well as
risks identified in our Form 20-F filed with the US
Securities and Exchange Commission. Additional
information about AB InBev's climate and water
risks, management and performance of such is
available through CDP.

Of ~ B
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Limited Assurance Report of
the Independent Auditor

To the readers of the Anheuser-Busch InBev 2021 Annual Report

We were engaged to provide limited assurance on
the following information in the Anheuser-Busch
InBev 2021 Annual Report (hereafter ‘the Selected
Information’) of Anheuser-Busch InBev SA/NV
(hereafter '‘AB InBev') based in Leuven, Belgium:

« Water Use by Hectoliter of Production and Total
Water Use (page 42)

« Total Energy purchased and Energy purchased
per Hectoliter of Production (page 42)

« Percentage of purchased (operational) electricity
from renewable sources (page 42)

« Percentage of contracted electricity from
renewable sources (page 42)

« Total Direct and Indirect GHG Emissions and GHG
Emissions per Hectoliter of Production (page 42)

« Total GHG Emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3 Emissions)
and total GHG Emissions (scope 1,2 and 3
Emissions) per Hectoliter of Production (page 42)

« Percentage of returnable primary packaging
(page 42)

« Percentage of recycled content in primary
packaging (page 42)

« Lost Time Injuries (LTI) — Supply Employees (own),
Second Tier and Sales Employees (page 47)

- Total Recordabile Injuries (TRI) - Supply
Employees (own) (page 47)

« Fatalities (page 47)

The information reviewed as part of our limited
assurance engagement has been indicated
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throughout the 2021 Annual Report with the
symbol'® .

Based on our procedures performed and
evidence obtained, nothing has come to our
attention that causes us to believe that the
Selected Information is not prepared, in all
material respects, in accordance with the applied
reporting criteria as disclosed in the section
Report Scope on page 51in the 2021 Annual
Report.

We have performed our review on the Selected
Information in accordance with the International
Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000:
“Assurance Engagements other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information”, issued
by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board.

This review engagement is aimed at obtaining

a limited level of assurance. Our responsibilities

under this standard are further described in the
section Our responsibilities for the review of the
Selected Information of our report.

Our conclusion has been formed on the basis
of, and is subject to, the matters outlined in this
report.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our conclusion.

AB InBev is the parent company of a group of
entities. The Selected Information incorporates
the consolidated information of this group of
entities as disclosed in the section ‘Report Scope’
on page 51in the 2021 Annual Report.

Our group review procedures consisted of both
review procedures at corporate (consolidated)
level and at site level. Our selection of sites in
scope of our review procedures is primarily
based on the site's individual contribution to
the consolidated information. Furthermore, our
selection of sites considered relevant reporting
risks and geographical spread.

By performing our procedures at site level,
together with additional procedures at corporate
level, we have been able to obtain sufficient and
appropriate evidence about the group's reported
information to provide a basis for our conclusion
on the Selected Information.

The Board of Directors of AB InBev is responsible
for the preparation of the Selected Information

in accordance with the applied reporting criteria
as described in the section ‘Report Scope’ on
page 51in the 2021 Annual Report, including the
identification of stakeholders and the definition of
material matters. The choices made by the Board
of Directors of AB InBev regarding the scope of

the information in the 2021 Annual Report and the
reporting policy are summarized in the section
‘Report Scope’ on page 51in the 2021 Annual
Report.

The Board of Directors is also responsible for

such internal control as the Board of Directors
determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of the Selected Information that is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Our responsibility is to carry out a limited
assurance engagement and to express a
conclusion based on the work performed. We
conducted our engagement in accordance with
International Standard on Assurance Engagements
(ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements other

than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information, issued by the International

Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That
Standard requires that we plan and perform the
engagement to obtain limited assurance about
whether the Selected Information is free from
material misstatement.

Procedures performed in an assurance
engagement to obtain a limited level of
assurance are aimed to determine the plausibility
of information and are less extensive than a
reasonable assurance engagement. The level

of assurance obtained in limited assurance
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engagements is therefore substantially less than
the level of assurance obtained in a reasonable
assurance engagements.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or errors and
are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected

to influence the decisions of users taken on the
basis of the Selected Information. The materiality
affects the nature, timing and extent of our review
procedures and the evaluation of the effect of
identified misstatements on our conclusion.

We apply the International Standard on

Quality Control 1and accordingly maintain

a comprehensive system of quality control
including documented policies and procedures
regarding compliance with ethical requirements,
professional standards and applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

We have complied with the independence and
other ethical requirements of the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants'
International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), which is
founded on fundamental principles of integrity,
objectivity, professional competence and due
care, confidentiality and professional behaviour.

We have exercised professional judgement
and have maintained professional scepticism
throughout the review, in accordance with

the International Standard on Assurance
Engagements (ISAE) 3000, ethical requirements
and independence requirements.
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Our limited assurance engagement on the
Selected Information consists of making
inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for

the preparation of the Selected Information, and
applying analytical and other evidence gathering
procedures, as appropriate. These procedures
included, among others:

« Identifying areas of the Selected Information
where material misstatements are likely to arise,
designing and performing limited assurance
procedures responsive to those areas, and
obtaining assurance evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our
conclusion;

Developing an understanding of internal control
relevant to the limited assurance engagement in
order to design assurance procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing a conclusion on the
effectiveness of the company's internal control;

Evaluating the appropriateness of the reporting
criteria used and their consistent application,
including the reasonableness of estimates made
by management and related disclosures to the
Selected information;

Interviewing relevant staff responsible for
providing the information, for carrying out
internal control procedures on the Selected
Information and consolidating the data in the
2021 Annual Report;

« Remote visits to seven production sites in South-
Africa, Brazil, China, the United Kingdom, the
United States of America (two sites) and Mexico
aimed at, on a local level, validating source data
and evaluating the design and implementation of
internal control and validation procedures;

« Reviewing relevant internal and external
documentation, on a limited test basis, in order
to determine the reliability of the Selected
Information;

« Preliminary and final analytical review procedures
to confirm our understanding of trends in the
Selected Information at site and corporate level.

Antwerp, 24 February 2022
KPMG Bedrijfsrevisoren - Réviseurs d'Entreprises

Mike Boonen
Partner

Of ~ B
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Management report

Anheuser-Busch InBev is a publicly traded company (Euronext: ABI) based in Leuven, Belgium, with secondary listings on
the Mexico (MEXBOL: ANB) and South Africa (JSE: ANH) stock exchanges and with American Depositary Receipts on the
New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: BUD). As a company, we dream big to create a future with more cheers. We are always
looking to serve up new ways to meet life’'s moments, move our industry forward and make a meaningful impact in the world.
We are committed to building great brands that stand the test of time and to brewing the best beers using the finest natural
ingredients. Our diverse portfolio of well over 500 beer brands includes global brands Budweiser®, Corona® and Stella
Artois®; multi-country brands Beck’s®, Hoegaarden®, Leffe® and Michelob Ultra®; and local champions such as Aguila®,
Antarctica®, Bud Light®, Brahma®, Cass®, Castle®, Castle Lite®, Cristal®, Harbin®, Jupiler®, Modelo Especial®,
Quilmes®, Victoria®, Sedrin® and Skol®. Our brewing heritage dates back more than 600 years, spanning continents and
generations. From our European roots at the Den Hoorn brewery in Leuven, Belgium. To the pioneering spirit of the
Anheuser & Co brewery in St. Louis, US. To the creation of the Castle Brewery in South Africa during the Johannesburg
gold rush. To Bohemia, the first brewery in Brazil. Geographically diversified with a balanced exposure to developed and
developing markets, we leverage the collective strengths of approximately 169 000 employees based in nearly 50 countries
worldwide. For 2021, our reported revenue was 54.3 billion US dollar (excluding joint ventures and associates).

The following management report should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements.

» oo« » o » o«

In the rest of this document we refer to Anheuser-Busch InBev as “AB InBev”, “the company”, “we”, “us” or “our”.

Selected financial figures

To facilitate the understanding of our underlying performance, the comments in this management report, unless otherwise
indicated, are based on organic and normalized numbers. “Organic” means the financials are analyzed eliminating the
impact of changes in currencies on translation of foreign operations, and scopes. Scopes represent the impact of acquisitions
and divestitures, the start-up or termination of activities or the transfer of activities between segments, curtailment gains and
losses and year-over-year changes in accounting estimates and other assumptions that management does not consider
part of the underlying performance of the business.

The tables in this management report provide the segment information per region for the period ended 31 December 2021
and 2020 in the format up to Normalized EBIT level that is used by management to monitor performance.

Whenever used in this report, the term “normalized” refers to performance measures (EBITDA, EBIT, Profit, EPS, effective
tax rate) before non-underlying items and discontinued operations. Non-underlying items are either income or expenses
which do not occur regularly as part of the normal activities of the company. They are presented separately because they
are important for the understanding of the underlying sustainable performance of the company due to their size or nature.
Normalized measures are additional measures used by management and should not replace the measures determined in
accordance with IFRS as an indicator of the company’s performance, but rather should be used in conjunction with the most
directly comparable IFRS measures.

On 1 June 2020, we completed the previously announced sale of Carlion & United Breweries (“CUB”), our Australian
subsidiary, to Asahi Group Holdings, Ltd (“Asahi”). Effective 30 September 2019, following the announcement on 19 July
2019 of the agreement to divest CUB to Asahi, we classified the assets and liabilities associated with the Australian
operations as assets held for sale and liabilities associated with assets held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. In addition, since the results of the Australian operations represented a
separate major line of business, these were accounted for as discontinued operations as required by IFRS 5 and presented
in a separate line in the consolidated income statement (“profit from discontinued operations”) up to 31 May 2020. As a
result, all the presentations of our underlying performance and organic growth figures do not reflect the results of the
Australian operations.
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The tables below set out the components of our operating income
figures.

For the year ended 31 December
Million US dollar

Revenuet
Cost of sales

Gross profit
SG&A
Other operating income/(expenses)

Normalized profit from operations (Normalized EBIT)
Non-underlying items

Profit from operations (EBIT)

Depreciation, amortization and impairment
Non-underlying impairment

Normalized EBITDA

EBITDA

Normalized profit attributable to equity holders of AB InBev

Profit from continuing operations attributable to equity holders
of AB InBev

Profit from discontinued operations attributable to equity holders
of AB InBev

Profit attributable to equity holders of AB InBev

For the year ended 31 December

Million US dollar

Operating activities

Profit from continuing operations

Interest, taxes and non-cash items included in profit

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital
provisions

Change in working capital

Pension contributions and use of provisions

Interest and taxes (paid)/received

Dividends received

Cash flow from operating activities on Australia discontinued operations
Cash flow from operating activities

Investing activities

Net capex

Acquisition and sale of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired/disposed of
Net proceeds from sale/(acquisition) of other assets

Proceeds from Australia divestiture

Cash flow from investing activities on Australia discontinued operations
Cash flow from investing activities

Financing activities

Dividends paid

Net (payments on)/proceeds from borrowings

Payment of lease liabilities

Sale/(purchase) of non-controlling interests and other

Cash flow from financing activities on Australia discontinued operations
Cash flow from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

I Turnover less excise taxes. In many jurisdictions, excise taxes make up a large proportion of the cost of beer charged to the company’s customers.

and operating expenses, as well as the key cash flow

2021

54 304
(23 097)

31207
(17 574)
805

14 438
(614)

13 824
4771
281
19 209
18 876

5723
4670

4670

and use of
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%

100%
43%

57%
32%
1%

27%
1%

25%
9%
1%

35%

35%

11%
9%

9%

2020

46 881
(19 634)

27 247
(15 368)
845

12723
(3103)

9620

4598
2733
17 321
16 951

3807
(650)

2 055
1405

2021

6114
12 693

18 806

2 459
(375)
(6 197)
106

14 799

(5 498)
(444)
65

(5 878)

(2 364)
(8 511)
(531)
(192)

(11 598)

(2 677)

%

100%
42%

58%
33%
2%

27%
7%

21%

10%

6%
37%
36%

8%
1%

4%
3%

2020

147
17 024

17 171

592
(616)
(6 391)
51

84

10 891

(3 687)
(510)
(292)

10 838

(13)
6 336

(1 800)
(8 294)
(461)
2086
(6)

(8 475)

8 752



Financial performance

We are presenting our results under five regions: North America, Middle Americas, South America, EMEA and Asia Pacific.

The tables in this management report provide the segment information per region for the period ended 31 December 2021
and 2020 in the format down to Normalized EBIT level that is used by management to monitor performance.

The tables below provide a summary of our performance for the period ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 (in million US
dollar, except volumes in thousand hectoliters) and the related comments are based on organic numbers.

Currency Organic Organic
AB INBEV WORLDWIDE 2020 Scope translation growth 2021 growth %
Volumes 530 644 56 - 50 979 581 678 9.6%
Revenue 46 881 (193) 326 7 290 54 304 15.6%
Cost of sales (19 634) 61 (119) (3 405) (23 097) (17.4)%
Gross profit 27 247 (132) 207 3885 31 207 14.3%
SG&A (15 368) 100 (180) (2 126) (17 574) (13.9)%
Other operating income/(expenses) 845 (187) 8 139 805 32.3%
Normalized EBIT 12 723 (218) 35 1899 14 438 15.4%
Normalized EBITDA 17 321 (207) 96 2 000 19 209 11.8%
Normalized EBITDA margin 36.9% - - - 35.4% -118 bps

In 2021, our normalized EBITDA increased 11.8%, while our normalized EBITDA margin contracted 118 bps, reaching
35.4%.

Consolidated volumes grew by 9.6%, with own beer volumes up 9.7% and non-beer volumes up 8.7%, driven by a recovery
year-over-year as the COVID-19 pandemic negatively impacted our volumes in 2020.

Consolidated revenue grew by 15.6% to 54 304m US dollar, with revenue per hectoliter growth of 5.5% driven by
premiumization and revenue management initiatives. Combined revenues of our global brands, Budweiser, Stella Artois and
Corona increased by 17.6% globally and 22.9% outside of their respective home markets.

Consolidated Cost of Sales (CoS) increased 17.4%, and increased 7.2% on a per hectoliter basis, driven by anticipated
transactional foreign exchange and commodity headwinds.

Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A) increased 13.9% due primarily to higher variable
compensation accruals and elevated supply chain costs.

Consolidated other operating income/(expenses) in 2021 increased by 32.3% primarily driven by higher government grants
and sales of non-core assets. In the fourth quarter of 2020 and in the second quarter of 2021, Ambev, recognized 481m US
dollar and 226m US dollar income in Other operating income respectively related to tax credits in Brazil. The net impact is
presented as a scope change and does not impact the presented organic growth. Additionally, Ambev recognized 118m US
dollar of interest income in Finance income in 2021 (2020: 315m US dollar) related to these credits. Underlying profit
attributable to equity holders and underlying EPS were positively impacted by 165m US dollar after tax and non-controlling
interest (31 December 2020: 325m US dollar). Ambev’s tax credits and interest receivables are expected to be collected
over a period exceeding 12 months after the balance sheet date. As of 31 December 2021, the total amount of such credits
and interest receivables represented 960m US dollar.
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VOLUMES

The table below summarizes the volume evolution per region and the related comments are based on organic numbers.
Volumes include not only brands that we own or license, but also third-party brands that we brew as a subcontractor and
third-party products that we sell through our distribution network, particularly in Europe. Volumes sold by the Global Export
business, which includes our global headquarters and the export businesses which have not been allocated to our regions,
are shown separately.

Organic Organic
Thousand hectoliters 2020 Scope growth 2021 growth %
North America 106 846 72 47 106 965 -
Middle Americas 120 800 1) 20 648 141 447 17.1%
South America 144 209 (67) 12 480 156 622 8.7%
EMEA 76 207 (275) 10 775 86 707 14.2%
Asia Pacific 81 649 - 6 730 88 379 8.2%
Global Export and Holding Companies 933 326 299 1558 23.8%
AB InBev Worldwide 530 644 56 50 979 581 678 9.6%

North America total volumes were flat.

In the United States, our sales-to-retailers (“STRs”) declined by 2.3%, estimated to be below the industry, while sales-to-
wholesalers (“STWSs”) were flattish as inventories normalized following pandemic related volatility. In 2021, our above core
portfolio delivered high-single digit volume growth, and now represents over 30% of revenue. Michelob ULTRA, the #2 beer
brand in the country by volume, continued to outperform the industry and grew STRs by double digits in 2021. Our seltzer
portfolio grew 1.7x the segment in 2021. Within the ready-to-drink cocktail segment, Cutwater once again grew by triple-
digits for 2021.

In Canada, our volume was flattish versus in 2021 compared to 2020, as on-premise channel closures were mostly offset
by strength in the off-premise channel. We continued to outperform the industry, led by our above core brands. Our Beyond
Beer portfolio grew volume by double-digits.

Middle Americas total volumes increased by 17.1%.

In Mexico, in 2021 compared to 2020, our volumes grew by double-digits, below the industry. Our continued momentum is
fueled by category and portfolio development, digital transformation, and channel expansion. In 2021, we expanded in the
fast-growing Beyond Beer segment through innovations such as Michelob ULTRA Hard Seltzer and Corona Agua Rifada.
We launched the next phase of our OXXO rollout, expanding to approximately 3,400 additional stores by January 2022. Our
BEES platform continues to expand, with over 70% of our revenues now digital.

In Colombia, our volumes grew over 20% in 2021 compared to 2020, reflecting the power of our enhanced brand portfolio
and consistent commercial strategy execution. Led by the implementation of our category expansion levers, the beer
category continues to grow, with 2021 marking the highest per capita consumption in Colombia in the last 25 years. We saw
growth across all segments of our portfolio this year. In 2021 compared to 2020, our core portfolio grew by double-digits and
our super-premium portfolio grew even faster, led by the nearly 40% combined growth of our global brands and local
premium brand, Club Colombia. The roll out and adoption of the BEES platform continued with over 85% of our revenues
in 2021 through digital channels.

In Peru, fueled by consistent execution of our commercial strategy, we delivered record high volumes in the fourth quarter
of 2021. On a full-year basis, our volumes grew by double-digits. Our global and local premium brands delivered particularly
strong performances, growing double-digits in 2021. BEES continues to expand and 75% of our revenue is now digital.

In Ecuador, we delivered volume growth of double-digits in 2021 compared to 2020. We continue to focus on expanding the
beer category and driving premiumization. Over 90% of our revenue in Ecuador is now digital.

South America total volumes increased by 8.7%.

In Brazil, our total volume grew by 7.3%, with beer volumes up by 7.0% and non-beer volumes up by 8.3%, in 2021 compared
to 2020. We continue to execute our consumer and customer-centric strategy focused on innovation and the digital
transformation of our business. In 2021, we delivered record high beer volumes and strengthened the health of our portfolio.
Innovations represented more than 20% of revenue this year. BEES now covers more than 85% of our active customers
across the country and helped contribute to an all-time high Net Promoter Score (“NPS”). Zé Delivery fulfilled more than 61
million orders in 2021, more than doubling versus 2020.

In Argentina, we grew volume by low teens in 2021 compared to 2020. Our premium brands led the way, due to the
outperformance of Andes Origen, Corona and Stella Artois.
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EMEA total volumes increased by 14.2%.

In Europe, our volumes grew by mid-single digits in 2021 compared to 2020. We continue to drive premiumization across
Europe. Premium and super premium brands now make up over 50% of our revenue. In 2021, our global brands and our
super premium portfolio grew by double-digits, led by Corona and Leffe. Our DTC solution, PerfectDraft, delivers the ultimate
home beer experience, growing 9x as fast as the online beer category in both France and the UK according to our estimates.

In South Africa, our volumes grew by strong double-digits in 2021 compared to 2020. In 2021, strong underlying consumer
demand for our products resulted in market share expansion in both beer and total alcohol versus pre-pandemic levels. We
saw consistent growth across all segments of our brand portfolio in 2021, led by Carling Black Label, our leading core brand.
We continue to accelerate the premium and Beyond Beer segments, both delivering strong double-digit growth. The adoption
of the BEES platform continued with almost 90% of our revenues now through digital channels.

In Africa excluding South Africa, we continue to see an improving operating environment and strong consumer demand for
our brands. This led to volume and growth across most of our key markets versus 2020. In Nigeria, our volumes
outperformed the industry in 2021, despite supply chain constraints.

Asia Pacific total volumes increased by 8.2%.

In China, volumes grew by 9.3% in 2021 compared to 2020. Our market share expanded by an estimated 80bps versus
2020. We remain focused on driving premiumization, digital transformation, and expansion of our business. All segments of
our portfolio grew in 2021, led by the double-digit increase of our premium and super premium portfolios, both above pre-
pandemic levels. We addressed new consumer trends and occasions through the expansion of Budweiser Supreme as well
as the launch of various flavor options, including Hoegaarden Fruity and Corona Sea Salt Guava.

In South Korea, in 2021, COVID-19 restrictions continued to impact the industry resulting in low-single digit volume decline
compared to 2020. Our market share momentum accelerated throughout the year delivering an estimated expansion of
nearly 130 bps, driven by the continued success of our innovations, the “All New Cass” and our new classic lager HANMAC.
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES BY REGION

The tables below provide a summary of the performance of each region, for the period ended 31 December 2021 (in million
US dollar, except volumes in thousand hectoliters) and the related comments are based on organic numbers.

Currency Organic Organic
AB INBEV WORLDWIDE 2020 Scope translation growth 2021 growth %
Volumes 530 644 56 - 50 979 581 678 9.6%
Revenue 46 881 (193) 326 7290 54 304 15.6%
Cost of sales (19 634) 61 (119) (3 405) (23 097) (17.4)%
Gross profit 27 247 (132) 207 3885 31 207 14.3%
SG&A (15 368) 100 (180) (2 126) (17 574) (13.9)%
Other operating income/(expenses) 845 (187) 8 139 805 32.3%
Normalized EBIT 12 723 (218) 35 1899 14 438 15.4%
Normalized EBITDA 17 321 (207) 96 2 000 19 209 11.8%
Normalized EBITDA margin 36.9% - - - 35.4% -118 bps

Currency Organic Organic
North America 2020 Scope translation growth 2021 growth %
Total volumes (thousand hls) 106 846 72 - 47 106 965 -
Revenue 15 622 (16) 144 507 16 257 3.3%
Cost of sales (5 870) 36 47) (303) (6 185) (5.2)%
Gross profit 9752 20 97 204 10 072 2.1%
SG&A (4 369) (69) (52) (279) (4 769) (6.4)%
Other operating income/(expenses) (14) 1 - 59 46 -
Normalized EBIT 5 369 (48) 44 (16) 5349 (0.3)%
Normalized EBITDA 6172 (36) 52 (56) 6131 (0.9Y%
Normalized EBITDA margin 39.5% - - - 37.7% -160 bps

Currency Organic Organic
Middle Americas 2020 Scope translation growth 2021 growth %
Total volumes (thousand hls) 120 800 1) - 20 648 141 447 17.1%
Revenue 10 032 5 16 2 488 12 541 24.8%
Cost of sales (3331) (6) (21) (1 070) (4 428) (32.1)%
Gross profit 6 701 1) (5) 1418 8 113 21.2%
SG&A (2 710) 3) (16) (421) (3 149) (15.5)%
Other operating income/(expenses) 6 - - 18 24 -
Normalized EBIT 3997 4) (20) 1015 4988 25.4%
Normalized EBITDA 5014 4) (6) 1121 6 126 22.4%
Normalized EBITDA margin 50.0% - - - 48.8% -96 bps

Currency Organic Organic
South America 2020 Scope translation growth 2021 growth %
Total volumes (thousand hls) 144 209 (67) - 12 480 156 622 8.7%
Revenue 8 092 (61) (653) 2116 9 494 26.3%
Cost of sales (3 786) 4 309 (1 290) (4 763) (34.1)%
Gross profit 4 306 (58) (344) 826 4730 19.4%
SG&A (2 417) 75 194 (615) (2762) (26.2)%
Other operating income/(expenses) 522 (189) (8) 71 397 65.3%
Normalized EBIT 2412 (171) (157) 282 2 365 14.0%
Normalized EBITDA 3179 (171) (209) 326 3125 11.7%
Normalized EBITDA margin 39.3% - - - 32.9% -401 bps

Currency Organic Organic
EMEA 2020 Scope translation growth 2021 growth %
Total volumes (thousand hls) 76 207 (275) - 10 775 86 707 14.2%
Revenue 6 835 (364) 377 1184 8 032 18.0%
Cost of sales (3 394) 172 (160) (411) (3793) (12.7)%
Gross profit 3441 (192) 217 774 4239 23.0%
SG&A (2 696) 198 (143) (214) (2 855) (8.2)%
Other operating income/(expenses) 163 - 8 30 200 18.6%
Normalized EBIT 907 6 82 590 1584 64.6%
Normalized EBITDA 1895 4 118 581 2598 30.6%
Normalized EBITDA margin 27.7% - - - 32.4% 308 bps
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Currency Organic Organic

Asia Pacific 2020 Scope translation growth 2021 growth %
Total volumes (thousand hls) 81 649 - - 6 730 88 379 8.2%
Revenue 5648 (46) 420 826 6 848 14.8%
Cost of sales (2 605) %) (184) (257) (3 048) (9.9)%
Gross profit 3042 (48) 236 570 3800 19.0%
SG&A (2 097) 46 (139) (140) (2 330) (6.8)%
Other operating income/(expenses) 146 - 9 (16) 139 (11.1)%
Normalized EBIT 1091 3) 107 413 1609 37.9%
Normalized EBITDA 1737 ) 152 434 2321 25.0%
Normalized EBITDA margin 30.8% - - - 33.9% 277 bps
Currency Organic Organic
Global Export and Holding Companies 2020 Scope translation growth 2021 growth %
Total volumes (thousand hls) 933 326 - 299 1558 23.8%
Revenue 652 289 22 169 1133 18.1%
Cost of sales (648) (142) (16) (74) (880) (9.5)%
Gross profit 4 147 6 95 252 63.8%
SG&A (2 079) (148) (25) (457) (1 709) (37.3)%
Other operating income/(expenses) 22 1 1) (22) - (96.6)%
Normalized EBIT (1 053) 1 (20) (384) (1 457) (36.5)%
Normalized EBITDA (677) 2 (11) (407) (1 093) (60.4)%
REVENUE

Our consolidated revenue grew by 15.6% to 54 304m US dollar with revenue per hectoliter growth of 5.5% driven by
premiumization and revenue management initiatives.

COST OF SALES

Our cost of Sales (CoS) increased by 17.4% and increased by 7.2% on a per hectoliter basis, driven by anticipated
transactional foreign exchange and commodity headwinds.

OPERATING EXPENSES
Our total operating expenses increased 13.4% in 2021:

Selling, General & Administrative Expenses (SG&A) increased by 13.9% due primarily to higher variable
compensation accruals and elevated supply chain costs.

Other operating income increased 32.3% primarily driven by higher government grants and sales of non-core
assets. In addition, in the second quarter of 2021, Ambev, our subsidiary, recognized 226m US dollar income in
Other operating income related to tax credits following a favorable decision from the Brazilian Supreme Court. In
the fourth quarter of 2020 Ambev, recognized 481m US dollar related to tax credits in Brazil. The net impact is
presented as a scope change.

NORMALIZED PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION (NORMALIZED
EBITDA)

Our normalized EBITDA increased 11.8% organically to 19 209m US dollar, with an EBITDA margin of 35.4%, representing
an EBITDA margin organic contraction of 118 bps.

North America EBITDA decreased 0.9% to 6 131m US dollar with a margin contraction of (160) bps to 37.7%
primarily due to increased selling, general and administrative expenses.

Middle Americas EBITDA increased 22.4% to 6 126m US dollar with a margin contraction of (96) bps to 48.8%.
driven by top-line growth coupled with operational efficiencies.

South America EBITDA increased 11.7% to 3 125m US dollar with a margin contraction of (401) bps to 32.9% as
top-line growth was partially offset by anticipated transactional foreign exchange and commaodity headwinds and
higher selling, general and administrative expenses.

EMEA EBITDA increased 30.6% to 2 598m US dollar with a margin enhancement of 308 bps to 32.4%, driven by
top-line growth and strong operational leverage.

Asia Pacific EBITDA increased 25.0% to 2 321m US dollar with a margin enhancement of 277 bps to 33.9% due
to top-line growth driven by ongoing premiumization and revenue management initiatives.

Global Export and Holding Companies EBITDA of (1 093)m US dollar in 2021 (2020: (677)m US dollar).
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Differences in normalized EBITDA margins by region are due to a number of factors such as different routes to market,
share of returnable packaging in the region’s sales and premium product mix.

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN NORMALIZED EBITDA AND PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS
Normalized EBITDA and EBIT are measures utilized by us to demonstrate the company’s underlying performance.

Normalized EBITDA is calculated excluding profit from discontinued operations and the following effects from profit from
continuing operations attributable to our equity holders: (i) Non-controlling interest, (ii) Income tax expense, (iii) Share of
results of associates, (iv) Net finance cost, (v) Non-underlying net finance cost, (vi) Non-underlying items above EBIT
(including non-underlying impairment) and (vii) Depreciation, amortization and impairment.

Normalized EBITDA and EBIT are not accounting measures under IFRS accounting and should not be considered as an
alternative to Profit from continuing operations attributable to equity holders as a measure of operational performance or as
an alternative to cash flow as a measure of liquidity. Normalized EBITDA and EBIT do not have a standard calculation
method and our definition of normalized EBITDA and EBIT may not be comparable to that of other companies.

For the year ended 31 December

Million US dollar Notes 2021 2020
Profit attributable to equity holders of AB InBev 4670 1405
Non-controlling interest 1444 797
Profit of the period 6114 2202
Profit from discontinued operations 21 - (2 055)
Profit from continuing operations 6114 147
Income tax expense 12 2 350 1932
Share of result of associates 16 (248) (156)
Non-underlying net finance cost/(income) 11 806 1738
Net finance cost 11 4 803 5959
Non-underlying items above EBIT (including non-underlying impairment) 8 614 3103
Normalized EBIT 14 438 12 723
Depreciation, amortization and impairment (excluding non-underlying impairment) 10 4771 4 598
Normalized EBITDA 19 209 17 321

Non-underlying items are either income or expenses which do not occur regularly as part of the normal activities of the
company. They are presented separately because they are important for the understanding of the underlying sustainable
performance of the company due to their size or nature. Details on the nature of the non-underlying items are disclosed in
Note 8 Non-underlying items.
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IMPACT OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Foreign currency exchange rates have a significant impact on our financial statements. The following table sets forth the
percentage of our revenue realized by currency for 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
US dollar 29.6% 31.9%
Brazilian real 12.4% 12.7%
Chinese yuan 9.7% 9.1%
Mexican peso 9.4% 8.9%
Euro 6.2% 6.9%
Colombian peso 4.1% 3.8%
South African rand 4.0% 3.3%
Canadian dollar 3.7% 3.9%
Argentinean pesot 3.0% 2.4%
Pound sterling 2.7% 2.7%
Peruvian peso 2.6% 2.5%
Dominican peso 2.1% 1.9%
South Korean won 2.1% 2.3%
Other 8.1% 7.6%

The following table sets forth the percentage of our normalized EBITDA realized by currency for 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
US dollar 32.8% 31.6%
Mexican peso 13.6% 13.0%
Brazilian real 9.8% 14.5%
Chinese yuan 9.4% 7.6%
Colombian peso 5.4% 4.9%
Euro 4.3% 7.1%
Peruvian peso 4.0% 3.6%
South African rand 3.9% 2.6%
Dominican peso 3.0% 2.8%
Canadian dollar 2.9% 2.9%
Argentinean pesot! 2.7% 2.0%
South Korean won 1.7% 1.9%
Pound sterling 0.3% 0.7%
Other 6.2% 5.0%

In 2021, the fluctuation of the foreign currency rates had a positive translation impact, including hyperinflation accounting
impact, of 326m US dollar on our revenue (2020: negative impact of 3 410m US dollar), of 96m US dollar on our normalized
EBITDA (2020: negative impact of 1 292m US dollar) and of 35m US dollar on our normalized EBIT (2020: negative impact
of 950m US dollar).

Our profit from continuing operations (after tax) has been positively affected by the fluctuation of foreign currencies, including
hyperinflation accounting impact, amounted to 41m US dollar (2020: negative impact of 288m US dollar), while the positive
translation impact, including hyperinflation accounting impact, on our EPS (profit attributable to our equity holders) was 38m
US dollar or 0.02 US dollar per share (2020: negative impact of 174m US dollar or 0.09 US dollar per share).

The impact of the fluctuation of the foreign currencies on our net debt amounted to 1 609m US dollar (decrease of net debt)
in 2021, as compared to an impact of 3 426m US dollar (increase of net debt) in 2020. The impact of the fluctuation of the
foreign currencies on the equity attributable to our equity holders amounted to 4 320m US dollar (decrease of equity), as
compared to an impact of 9 943m US dollar (decrease of equity) in 2020.

1 Hyperinflation accounting was adopted in 2018 to report the company’s Argentinian operations.
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PROFIT

Normalized profit attributable to our equity holders was 5 723m US dollar (normalized EPS 2.85 US dollar) in 2021,
compared to 3 807m US dollar (normalized EPS 1.91 US dollar) in 2020. Underlying profit (normalized profit attributable to
equity holders of AB InBev excluding mark-to-market gains or losses linked to the hedging of our share-based payment
programs and the impact of hyperinflation) was 5 774m US dollar in 2021 (Underlying EPS 2.88 US dollar) as compared to
5 022m US dollar in 2020 (Underlying EPS 2.51 US dollar) (see Note 22 Changes in equity and earnings per share for more
details). Profit attributable to our equity holders for 2021 was 4 670m US dollar, compared to 1 405m US dollar for 2020 and
includes the following impacts:

Net finance costs (excluding non-underlying net finance items): 4 803m US dollar in 2021 compared to a net finance
cost of 5 959m US dollar in 2020. This decrease was primarily due to mark-to-market adjustment linked to the
hedging of our share-based payment programs amounting to a loss of 23m US dollar in 2021, compared to a loss
of 1 211m US dollar in 2020 resulting in a change of 1 188m US dollar.

Non-underlying net finance cost: Non-underlying net finance cost amounted to 806m US dollar in 2021 compared
to 1 738m US dollar cost in 2020. 25m US dollar loss resulted from mark-to-market adjustments on derivative
instruments entered into to hedge the shares issued in relation to the combination with Grupo Modelo and the
restricted shares issued in connection with the combination with SAB (2020: 1 008m US dollar loss) and 741m US
dollar loss resulted from the early termination of certain bonds (2020: 795m US dollar loss).

Non-underlying items: In 2021, we incurred (614)m US dollar of non-underlying costs (2020: (603)m US dollar)
mainly comprising of (172)m US dollar of restructuring costs (2020: (157)m US dollar), (247)m US dollar of business
and asset disposal costs (including impairment losses), mainly comprising 258m US dollar of non-cash impairment
charge associated with Bedford Systems, a joint venture with Keurig Dr. Pepper following the announcement of
the cessation of its business in December 2021 (2020: (239)m US dollar of costs mostly related to non-underlying
impairment of intangible assets classified as assets held for sale and other intangibles), (105)m US dollar of costs
associated with COVID-19 (2020: (182)m US dollar) which mainly relate to personal protection equipment for our
colleagues, charitable donations and other costs incurred as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic,
and (72)m US dollar cost related to the Zenzele Kabili scheme. During the second quarter of 2020, we reported a
2.5 billion US dollar non-cash goodwill impairment charge. The goodwill impairment charge was partially offset by
a 1.9 billion US dollar gain on the disposal of the Australia operations reported in discontinued operations.

Income tax expense: 2 350m US dollar in 2021 with an effective tax rate of 28.6% compared to 1 932m US dollar
in 2020 with an effective tax rate of 100.4%. The 2021 and 2020 effective tax rates are negatively impacted by the
non-deductible losses from derivatives related to the hedging of share-based payment programs and the hedging
of the shares issued in a transaction related to the combination with Grupo Modelo and SAB. The effective tax rate
for 2020 was also negatively impacted by the non-deductible, non-cash goodwill impairment loss. The normalized
effective tax rate excluding mark-to-market gains or losses linked to the hedging of our share-based payment
programs was 27.9% in 2021 compared to 26.2% in 2020.

Profit attributable to non-controlling interest: 1 444m US dollar in 2021 compared to 797m US dollar in 2020.

Profit from discontinued operations: In 2020, we reported 2 055m US dollar in discontinued operations primarily
attributable to an exceptional 1.9 billion US dollar gain on the divestiture of the Australian operations completed on
1 June 2020 (2021: nil).
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Liquidity position and capital resources

CASH FLOWS
Million US dollar 2021 2020
Cash flow from operating activities 14 799 10 891
Cash flow from investing activities (5 878) 6 336
Cash flow from financing activities (11 598) (8 475)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2 677) 8 752
Million US dollar 2021 2020
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 6114 147
Interest, taxes and non-cash items included in profit 12 693 17 024
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital and use of provisions 18 806 17 171
Change in working capital 2459 592
Pension contributions and use of provisions (375) (616)
Interest and taxes (paid)/received (6 197) (6 391)
Dividends received 106 51
Cash flow from operating activities on Australia discontinued operations - 84
Cash flow from operating activities 14 799 10 891

Our cash flow from operating activities reached 14 799m US dollar in 2021 compared to 10 891m US dollar in 2020. The
increase primarily results from higher profit and changes in working capital for 2021 compared to 2020 as our results for
2020 were negatively impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Million US dollar 2021 2020
Net capex (5 498) (3687)
Acquisition and sale of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired/disposed of (444) (510)
Net proceeds from sale/(acquisition) of other assets 65 (292)
Proceeds from Australia divestiture - 10 838
Cash flow from investing activities on Australia discontinued operations - (13)
Cash flow from investing activities (5 878) 6 336

Our cash outflow from investing activities was 5 878m US dollar in 2021 compared to a cash inflow of 6 336m US dollar in
2020. The decrease in the cash flow from investing activities was mainly due to the exceptional 10 838m US dollar proceeds
from the divestiture of the Australian business reported in 2020 and higher net capital expenditures in 2021 compared to
2020.

Our net capital expenditures amounted to 5 498m US dollar in 2021 and 3 687m US dollar in 2020. Out of the total 2021
capital expenditures approximately 44% was used to improve the company’s production facilities while 41% was used for
logistics and commercial investments and 15% was used for improving administrative capabilities and for the purchase of
hardware and software.

Million US dollar 2021 2020
Dividends paid (2 364) (1 800)
Net (payments on)/proceeds from borrowings (8 511) (8 294)
Payment of lease liabilities (531) (461)
Sale/(purchase) of non-controlling interests and other (192) 2 086
Cash flow from financing activities on Australia discontinued operations - (6)
Cash flow from financing activities (11 598) (8 475)

Our cash outflow from financing activities amounted to 11 598m US dollar in 2021, as compared to a cash outflow of 8 475m
US dollar in 2020. The increase is primarily driven by higher dividends paid in 2021 and the issuance of a 49.9% minority
stake in our US-based metal container operations to Apollo for net proceeds of 3.0 billion USD in 2020. Proactive deployment
of excess cash balances toward gross debt reduction resulted in a cash outflow of 8 294m US dollar and 8 511m US dollar
in 2020 and 2021, respectively.
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As of 31 December 2021, we had total liquidity of 22.2 billion US dollar, which consisted of 10.1 billion US dollar available
under our Sustainability-Linked Loan Revolving Credit Facility (“‘SLL RCF”) and 12.1 billion US dollar of cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments in debt securities less bank overdrafts. Although we may borrow such amounts to
meet our liquidity needs, we principally rely on cash flows from operating activities to fund the company’s continuing
operations.

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND EQUITY

Our net debt amounted to 76.2 billion US dollar as of 31 December 2021 as compared to 82.7 billion US dollar as of 31
December 2020. As a result of our business performance and strong cash flow generation in 2021, we reduced gross debt
by nearly 10 billion US dollar to 88.8 billion US dollar as of 31 December 2021, leading to a net debt to EBITDA ratio of
3.96x. This ratio is now below 4.0x for the first time since the combination with SAB in 2016.

Net debt is defined as non-current and current interest-bearing loans and borrowings and bank overdrafts minus debt
securities and cash. Net debt is a financial performance indicator that is used by our management to highlight changes in
the company’s overall liquidity position. We believe that net debt is meaningful for investors as it is one of the primary
measures our management uses when evaluating our progress towards deleveraging toward our optimal net debt to
normalized EBITDA ratio of around 2x.

Our net debt decreased by 6.5 billion US dollar as of 31 December 2021 compared to 31 December 2020. Aside from
operating results that are net of capital expenditures, the net debt is impacted mainly by the payment of interests and taxes
(6.2 billion US dollar increase of net debt), dividend payments to shareholders of AB InBev and Ambev (2.4 billion US dollar)
and foreign exchange impact on net debt (1.6 billion US dollar decrease of net debt).

Net debt to normalized EBITDA decreased from 4.8x for the 12-month period ending 31 December 2020 to 3.96x for the
12-month period ending 31 December 2021. Deleveraging to around 2x remains our commitment and we will prioritize debt
repayment in order to meet this objective.

Consolidated equity attributable to our equity holders as at 31 December 2021 was 68 669m US dollar, compared to 68
024m US dollar as at 31 December 2020. The net increase in equity results from the profit attributable to equity shareholders
partially offset by dividends paid and foreign exchange losses on translation of foreign operations primarily related to the
combined effect of the weakening of the closing rates of the Colombian pesos, the Peruvian Sol, the South African rand and
the Mexican pesos, partially offset by the weakening of the closing rate of the Euro, which resulted in a foreign exchange
translation adjustment of 4 320m US dollar as of 31 December 2021 (decrease of equity).

Further details on interest-bearing loans and borrowings, repayment schedules and liquidity risk, are disclosed in Note 23
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings and Note 28 Risks arising from financial instruments.

As of 31 December 2021, the company’s credit rating from Standard & Poor’s was BBB+ for long-term obligations and A-2
for short-term obligations, with a stable outlook, and the company’s credit rating from Moody’s Investors Service was Baa1
for long-term obligations and P-2 for short-term obligations, with a stable outlook.
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Research and development

Given our focus on innovation, we place a high value on research and development. In 2021, we spent 298m US dollar in
research and development (2020: 296m US dollar). The spent focused on product innovations, market research, as well as
process optimization and product development.

Research and development in product innovation covers liquid, packaging and draft innovation. Product innovation consists
of breakthrough innovation, incremental innovation and renovation. The main goal for the innovation process is to provide
consumers with better products and experiences. This implies launching new liquid, new packaging and new draught
products that deliver better performance both for the consumer and in terms of top-line results, by increasing our
competitiveness in the relevant markets. With consumers comparing products and experiences offered across very different
drink categories and the offering of beverages increasing, our research and development efforts also require an
understanding of the strengths and weaknesses of other beverage categories, spotting opportunities for beer and developing
consumer solutions (products) that better address consumer need and deliver better experience. This requires
understanding consumer emotions and expectations. Sensory experience, premiumization, convenience, sustainability and
design are all central to our research and development efforts.

Research and development in process optimization is primarily aimed at quality improvement, capacity increase (plant
debottlenecking and addressing volume issues, while minimizing capital expenditure) and improving efficiency. Newly
developed processes, materials and/or equipment are documented in best practices and shared across business regions.
Current projects range from malting to bottling of finished products.

Knowledge management and learning is also an integral part of research and development. We seek to continuously
increase our knowledge through collaborations with universities and other industries.

Our research and development team is briefed annually on the company's and the business regions' priorities and approves
concepts which are subsequently prioritized for development. The research & development teams invest in both short- and
long-term strategic projects for future growth, with the launch time depending on complexity and prioritization. Launch time
usually falls within the next calendar year.

The Global Innovation and Technology Center (“GITeC”), located in Leuven, accommodates the Packaging, Product,
Process Development teams and facilities such as Labs, Experimental Brewery and the European Central Lab, which also
includes Sensory Analysis. In addition to GITeC, we also have Product, Packaging and Process development teams located
in each of our geographic regions focusing on the short-term needs of such regions.
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Risks and uncertainties

Under the explicit understanding that this is not an exhaustive list, AB InBev’s major risk factors and uncertainties are listed
below. There may be additional risks which AB InBev is unaware of. There may also be risks AB InBev now believes to be
immaterial, but which could turn out to have a material adverse effect. Moreover, if and to the extent that any of the risks
described below materialize, they may occur in combination with other risks which would compound the adverse effect of
such risks. The sequence in which the risk factors are presented below is not indicative of their likelihood of occurrence or
of the potential magnitude of their financial consequence.

AB InBev’s business, financial condition, cash flows and operating results have been and may continue to be negatively
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. AB InBev has experienced disruptions to its ability to operate its production facilities
in some countries, and in the future, it may experience further disruption to its ability to operate its production facilities or
distribution operations as a result of regulatory restrictions, safety protocols, social distancing requirements and heightened
sanitation measures. AB InBev has also experienced constraints in its ability to source beverage containers and disruptions
in the availability of transportation services and labor in certain markets, and may experience further disruption to its supply
chain and distribution operations. Any sustained interruption in AB InBev’s operations or its business partners’ operations,
distribution network or supply chain, or any significant continuous shortage of raw materials or other supplies could impact
AB InBev’s ability to make, manufacture, distribute or sell its products or may result in an increase in its costs of production
and distribution. Sales of AB InBev’s products in the on-premise channel have been significantly impacted by the
implementation of social distancing and lockdown measures in most of its markets, including the closure of bars, clubs and
restaurants and restrictions on sporting events, music festivals and similar events. Although sales in the on-premise channel
improved as a result of the easing of social distancing and lockdown measures in many of these markets, such
improvements have been, and may continue to be, impacted by the re-implementation of restrictions in certain markets due
to the emergence and spread of new COVID-19 variants. Any future outbreak or recurrence of COVID-19 cases in other
markets that have eased social distancing and lock down measures may similarly result in the re-implementation of such
measures and a further negative impact on our sales. If the COVID-19 pandemic intensifies and expands geographically, or
efforts to curb the pandemic are ineffective, its negative impacts on AB InBeV’s sales could be more prolonged and may
become more severe. Deteriorating economic and political conditions in many of AB InBev’s major markets affected by the
COVID-19 pandemic, such as increased unemployment, decreases in disposable income, declines in consumer confidence,
or economic slowdowns or recessions, could cause a further decrease in demand for its products. Furthermore, the ongoing
economic impacts and health concerns associated with the COVID-19 pandemic may continue to affect consumer behavior,
spending levels and consumption preferences. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on global economic conditions has
impacted and may continue to impact the proper functioning of financial and capital markets, as well as foreign currency
exchange rates, commodity and energy prices and interest rates. A continuation or worsening of the levels of market
disruption and volatility seen in the recent past could have an adverse effect on AB InBev’s ability to access, or costs of,
capital or borrowings, its business, its liquidity, its net debt to EBITDA ratio, credit ratings, results of operations and financial
condition. Compliance with governmental measures imposed in response to COVID-19 has caused and may continue to
cause us to incur additional costs, and any inability to comply with such measures can subject AB InBev to restrictions on
its business activities, fines, and other penalties, any of which can adversely affect its business. In addition, responses to
the COVID-19 pandemic may result in both short-term and long-term changes to fiscal and tax policies in impacted
jurisdictions, including increases in tax rates.

Any of the negative impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic (or any future outbreak or recurrence of COVID-19 following the
relaxation of social distancing and lockdown measures or the emergence and spread of new COVID-19 variants), including
those described above, alone or in combination with others, may have a material adverse effect on AB InBev’s results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

AB InBev is exposed to the risk of a global recession or a recession in one or more of its key markets, and to credit and
capital market volatility and an economic or financial crisis (including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic), or otherwise.
These could result in reduced consumption or sales prices of AB InBev’s products, which in turn could result in lower revenue
and reduced profit. AB InBev’s financial condition and results of operations, as well as AB InBev’s future prospects, would
likely be hindered by an economic downturn in any of its key markets. Consumption of beer and other alcohol and non-
alcohol beverages in many of the jurisdictions in which AB InBev operates is closely linked to general economic conditions
and changes in disposable income. A continuation or worsening of the levels of market disruption and volatility seen in the
recent past could have an adverse effect on AB InBev’s ability to access capital, its business, results of operations and
financial condition, and on the market price of its shares and American Depositary Shares.

AB InBev’s results of operations are affected by fluctuations in exchange rates. Any change in exchange rates between AB
InBev’s operating companies’ functional currencies and the U.S. dollar will affect its consolidated income statement and
balance sheet when the results of those operating companies are translated into U.S. dollar for reporting purposes as
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translational exposures are not hedged. Also, there can be no assurance that the policies in place to manage commodity
price and transactional foreign currency risks to protect AB InBev’s exposure will be able to successfully hedge against the
effects of such foreign exchange exposure, especially over the long-term. Further, the use of financial instruments to mitigate
currency risk and any other efforts taken to better match the effective currencies of AB InBev’s liabilities to its cash flows
could result in increased costs.

Following the categorization of Argentina in AB InBev’s results for the third quarter of 2018 as a country with a three-year
cumulative inflation rate greater than 100%, the country is considered as a hyperinflationary economy in accordance with
IFRS rules (IAS 29), resulting in the restatement of certain results for hyperinflation accounting. If the economic or political
situation in Argentina further deteriorates, the South America operations may be subject to additional restrictions under new
Argentinean foreign exchange, export repatriation or expropriation regimes that could adversely affect AB InBev’s liquidity
and operations, and ability to access funds from Argentina.

AB InBev may not be able to obtain the necessary funding for its future capital or refinancing needs and may face financial
risks due to its level of debt and uncertain market conditions. AB InBev may be required to raise additional funds for its
future capital needs or to refinance its current indebtedness through public or private financing, strategic relationships or
other arrangements and there can be no assurance that the funding, if needed, will be available or provided on attractive
terms. AB InBev has incurred substantial indebtedness by entering into a senior credit facility and accessing the bond
markets from time to time based on its financial needs, including as a result of the acquisition of SAB. The portion of AB
InBev’s consolidated balance sheet represented by debt will remain significantly higher as compared to its historical position.
AB InBev’s increased level of debt could have significant consequences for AB InBev, including (i) increasing its vulnerability
to general adverse economic and industry conditions, (ii) limiting its flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in its
business and the industry in which AB InBev operates, (iii) impairing its ability to obtain additional financing in the future and
limiting its ability to fund future working capital and capital expenditures, to engage in future acquisitions or development
activities or to otherwise realize the value of its assets and opportunities fully, (iv) requiring AB InBev to issue additional
equity (potentially under unfavorable market conditions), and (v) placing AB InBev at a competitive disadvantage compared
to its competitors that have less debt. AB InBev's ability to repay and renegotiate its outstanding indebtedness will be
dependent upon market conditions. Unfavorable conditions, including significant price volatility, dislocations and liquidity
disruptions in the global credit markets in recent years, as well as downward pressure on credit capacity for certain issuers
without regard to those issuers’ underlying financial strength, could increase costs beyond what is currently anticipated.
Such costs could have a material adverse impact on AB InBev’s cash flows, results of operations or both. Further, AB InBev
may restrict the amount of dividends it will pay as a result of AB InBev’s level of debt and its strategy to give priority to
deleveraging toward its optimal net debt to normalized EBITDA ratio of around 2x.

Also, a credit rating downgrade could have a material adverse effect on AB InBev’s ability to finance its ongoing operations
or to refinance its existing indebtedness. In addition, a failure of AB InBev to refinance all or a substantial amount of its debt
obligations when they become due, or more generally a failure to raise additional equity capital or debt financing or to realize
proceeds from asset sales when needed, would have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and results of
operations.

AB InBev’s results could be negatively affected by increasing interest rates or the future discontinuance of certain
benchmarks. Although AB InBev enters into interest rate swap agreements to manage its interest rate risk and also enters
into cross-currency interest rate swap agreements to manage both its foreign currency risk and interest-rate risk on interest-
bearing financial liabilities, there can be no assurance that such instruments will be successful in reducing the risks inherent
in exposures to interest rate fluctuations.

The ability of AB InBev’s subsidiaries to distribute cash upstream may be subject to various conditions and limitations. The
inability to obtain sufficient cash flows from its domestic and foreign subsidiaries and affiliated companies could adversely
impact AB InBev’s ability to pay dividends and otherwise negatively impact its business, results of operations and financial
condition.

Changes in the availability or price of raw materials, commodities, energy and water, including as a result of currency
fluctuations, constraints on sourcing and unexpected increases in tariffs on such raw materials and commodities, like
aluminum, could have an adverse effect on AB InBeV's results of operations to the extent that AB InBev fails to adequately
manage the risks inherent in such volatility, including if AB InBev’s hedging and derivative arrangements do not effectively
or completely hedge against foreign currency risks and changes in commodity prices.

Certain of AB InBev's operations depend on effective distribution networks to deliver its products to consumers, and
distributors play an important role in distributing a significant proportion of beer and other beverages. Generally, distributors
purchase AB InBev’s products from AB InBev and then on-sell them either to other distributors or points of sale. Such
distributors are either government-controlled or privately owned but independent wholesale distributors for distribution of AB
InBev’s products, and there can be no assurance that such distributors will not give priority to AB InBev's competitors.
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Further, any inability of AB InBev to replace unproductive or inefficient distributors, who could engage in practices that harm
AB InBevV’s reputation as consumers look to AB InBev for the quality and availability of its products, or any limitations imposed
on AB InBev to purchase or own any interest in distributors or wholesalers as a result of contractual restrictions, regulatory
changes, changes in legislation or the interpretations of legislation by regulators or courts could adversely impact AB InBev's
business, results of operations and financial condition.

The continued consolidation of retailers in markets in which AB InBev operates could result in reduced profitability for the
beer industry as a whole and indirectly adversely affect AB InBev's financial results.

AB InBev relies on key third parties, including key suppliers, for a range of raw materials for its beer, alcoholic beverages
and soft drinks, and for packaging material. The termination of or any material change to arrangements with certain key
suppliers or the failure of a key supplier to meet its contractual obligations could have a material impact on AB InBev's
production, distribution and sale of beer, alcoholic beverages and soft drinks and have a material adverse effect on AB
InBev's business, results of operations, cash flows or financial condition. Certain of AB InBev’s subsidiaries may purchase
nearly all of their key packaging materials from sole suppliers under multi-year contracts. The loss of or temporary
discontinuity of supply from any of these suppliers without sufficient time to develop an alternative source could cause AB
InBev to spend increased amounts on such supplies in the future. In addition, a number of key brand names are both
licensed to third-party brewers and used by companies over which AB InBev does not have control. Although AB InBev
monitors brewing quality to ensure its high standards, to the extent that one of these key brand names or joint ventures,
companies in which AB InBev does not own a controlling interest and/or AB InBev’s licensees are subject to negative
publicity, it could have a material adverse effect on AB InBev’s business, results of operations, cash flows or financial
condition.

A portion of the company’s global portfolio consists of associates in new or developing markets, including investments where
the company may have a lesser degree of control over the business operations. The company faces several challenges
inherent to these various culturally and geographically diverse business interests. Although the company works with its
associates on the implementation of appropriate processes and controls, the company also faces additional risks and
uncertainties with respect to these minority investments because the company may be dependent on systems, controls and
personnel that are not under the company’s control, such as the risk that the company’s associates may violate applicable
laws and regulations, which could have an adverse effect on the company’s business, reputation, results of operations and
financial condition.

AB InBev may have a conflict of interest with its majority-owned subsidiaries. For example, a conflict of interest could arise
if the subsidiary brings a legal claim for an alleged contractual breach, which could materially and adversely affect AB InBev’s
financial condition. A conflict of interest may also arise as a result of any dual roles played by AB InBev directors who may
also be managers or senior officers in the subsidiary. Notwithstanding policies and procedures to address the possibility of
such conflicts of interest, AB InBev may not be able to resolve all such conflicts on terms favorable to AB InBev.

The size of AB InBev, contractual limitations it is subject to and its position in the markets in which it operates may decrease
its ability to successfully carry out further acquisitions and business integrations. AB InBev cannot enter into further
transactions unless it can identify suitable candidates and agree on the terms with them. The size of AB InBev and its
position in the markets in which it operates may make it harder to identify suitable candidates, including because it may be
harder for AB InBev to obtain regulatory approval for future transactions. If appropriate opportunities do become available,
AB InBev may seek to acquire or invest in other businesses; however, any future acquisition may pose regulatory, antitrust
and other risks.

An inability to reduce costs could affect AB InBev's profitability. Additionally, the Tax Matters Agreement AB InBev has
entered into with Altria Group Inc. imposes some limits on the ability of the Combined Group to effect some reorganizations
which it may otherwise consider.

Failure to generate significant cost savings and margin improvement through initiatives for improving operational efficiencies
could adversely affect AB InBev’s profitability and AB InBev’s ability to achieve its financial goals. AB InBev is pursuing a
number of initiatives to improve operational efficiency. If AB InBev fails for any reason to successfully complete these
measures and programs as planned or to derive the expected benefits from these measures and programs, there is a risk
of increased costs associated with these efforts, delays in benefit realization, disruption to the business, reputational damage
or a reduced competitive advantage in the medium term.

AB InBev entered into a consent decree with the U.S. Department of Justice in relation to the combination with SAB, pursuant
to which AB InBev’s subsidiary, Anheuser-Busch Companies, LLC, agreed not to acquire control of a distributor if doing so
would result in more than 10% of its annual volume being distributed through distributorships controlled by AB InBev in the
U.S. AB InBev’'s compliance with its obligations under the settlement agreement is monitored by the U.S. Department of
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Justice and the Monitoring Trustee appointed by them. Were AB InBev to fail to fulfill its obligations under the consent
decree, whether intentionally or inadvertently, AB InBev could be subject to monetary fines or other penalties.

A substantial portion of AB InBev’s operations are carried out in developing European, African, Asian and Latin American
markets. AB InBev’s operations and equity investments in these markets are subject to the customary risks of operating in
developing countries, which include, amongst others, political instability or insurrection, human rights concerns, external
interference, financial risks, changes in government policy, political and economic changes, changes in the relations
between countries, actions of governmental authorities affecting trade and foreign investment, regulations on repatriation of
funds, interpretation and application of local laws and regulations, enforceability of intellectual property and contract rights,
local labor conditions and regulations, lack of upkeep of public infrastructure, potential political and economic uncertainty,
application of exchange controls, nationalization or expropriation, empowerment legislation and policy, corrupt business
environments, crime and lack of law enforcement as well as financial risks, which include risk of illiquidity, inflation,
devaluation, price volatility, currency convertibility and country default. Moreover, the economies of developing countries
are often affected by changes in other developing market countries, and, accordingly, adverse changes in developing
markets elsewhere in the world could have a negative impact on the markets in which AB InBev operates. Such developing
market risks could adversely impact AB InBev’s business, results of operations and financial condition. Furthermore, the
global reach of AB InBev’s operations exposes it to risks associated with doing business globally, including changes in
tariffs. The Office of the United States Trade Representative has enacted tariffs on certain imports into the United States
from China. If significant tariffs or other restrictions are placed on imports from China or any retaliatory trade measures are
taken by China, this could have a material adverse effect on global economic conditions and the stability of global financial
markets, and may significantly reduce global trade, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on AB InBev’s
business in one or more of its key markets and results of operations.

Competition and changing consumer preferences in its various markets and increased purchasing power of players in AB
InBev’s distribution channels could cause AB InBev to reduce prices of its products, increase capital investment, increase
marketing and other expenditures or prevent AB InBev from increasing prices to recover higher costs and thereby cause AB
InBev to reduce margins or lose market share. Also, innovation faces inherent risks, and the new products AB InBev
introduces may not be successful, while competitors may be able to respond more quickly to the emerging trends, such as
the increasing consumer preference for “craft beers” produced by smaller microbreweries. In recent years, many industries
have seen disruption from non-traditional producers and distributors, in many cases, from digital only competitors. AB
InBev’s business could be negatively affected if it is unable to anticipate changing consumer preference for such platforms.
Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on AB InBev's business, financial condition and results of
operations.

If any of AB InBev’s products is defective or found to contain contaminants, AB InBev may be subject to product recalls or
other associated liabilities. Although AB InBev maintains insurance against certain product liability (but not product recall)
risks, it may not be able to enforce its rights in respect of these policies and, in the event that contamination or a defect
occurs, any amounts it recovers may not be sufficient to offset any damage it may suffer, which could adversely impact its
business, reputation, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

In recent years, there has been public and political attention directed at the soft drinks and alcoholic beverage industries, as
a result of a rising health and well-being trend. Despite the progress made on AB InBev’'s Smart Drinking Goals, AB InBev
may be criticized and experience an increase in the number of publications and studies debating its efforts to reduce the
harmful consumption of alcohol, as advocates try to shape the public discussions. AB InBev may also be subject to laws
and regulations aimed at reducing the affordability or availability of beer in some of its markets. Additional regulatory
restrictions on AB InBev’s business, such as those on the legal minimum drinking age, product labeling, opening hours or
marketing activities, may cause the social acceptability of beer to decline significantly and consumption trends to shift away
from it, which would have a material adverse effect on AB InBeV’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Negative publicity and campaigns by activists, whether or not warranted, connecting us, our supply chain or our business
partners with workplace and human rights issues, whether actual or perceived, could adversely impact our corporate image
and reputation and may cause our business to suffer. We have made a number of commitments to respect human rights,
including our commitment to the principles and guidance contained in the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human
Rights, through our policies. Allegations, even if untrue, that we are not respecting our commitments or actual or perceived
failure by our suppliers or other business partners to comply with applicable workplace and labor laws, including child labor
laws, or their actual or perceived abuse or misuse of migrant workers could negatively affect our overall reputation and
brand image.

AB InBev could incur significant costs as a result of compliance with, and/or violations of or liabilities under, various
regulations that govern AB InBev’s operations or the operations of its licensed third parties, including the General Data
Protection Regulation adopted in the European Union, which was fully implemented in May 2018.
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A wholly-owned subsidiary of Labatt Breweries of Canada (“Labatt”), the Canadian subsidiary of our subsidiary Ambeyv,
researches non-alcohol beverages containing tetrahydrocannabinol (“THC”) and cannabidiol (“CBD”), both derived from
cannabis, and also commercializes a non-alcohol CBD beverage in Canada only, which could lead to increased legal,
reputational and financial risks as the laws and regulations governing recreational cannabis are still developing, including in
ways that AB InBev may not foresee. For instance, the involvement in the legal cannabis industry in Canada may invite new
regulatory and enforcement scrutiny in other markets. Cannabis remains illegal in many markets in which AB InBev operates,
and violations of Law could result in significant fines, penalties, administrative sanctions, convictions or settlements arising
from civil proceedings or criminal charges. Furthermore, the political environment and popular support for cannabis
legalization has changed quickly and remains in flux.

AB InBev is now, and may in the future be, a party to legal proceedings and claims, including collective suits (class actions),
and significant damages may be asserted against it. Given the inherent uncertainty of litigation, it is possible that AB InBev
might incur liabilities as a consequence of the proceedings and claims brought against it, including those that are not
currently believed by it to be reasonably possible, which could have a material adverse effect on AB InBev’s business,
results of operations, cash flows or financial position. Important contingencies are disclosed in Note 30 Contingencies of the
2021 consolidated financial statements.

AB InBev may be subject to adverse changes in taxation, which makes up a large proportion of the cost of beer charged to
consumers in many jurisdictions. Increases in excise and other indirect taxes applicable to AB InBev’s products tend to
adversely affect AB InBev’s revenue or margins, both by reducing overall consumption and by encouraging consumers to
switch to other categories of beverages, including unrecorded or informal alcohol products. Minimum pricing is another form
of fiscal regulation that can affect AB InBev’s profitability. Furthermore, AB InBev may be subject to increased taxation on
its operations by national, local or foreign authorities, to higher corporate income tax rates or to new or modified taxation
regulations and requirements (including potential changes in the U.S and Brazil). For example, in response to the increasing
globalization and digitalization of trade and business operations, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and
Development (OECD) is working on proposals for international tax reform as an extension of its Base Erosion and Profit
Shifting project. The proposals are comprised in a two-pillar approach: Pillar One, which is focused on the re-allocation of
some of the taxable profits of multinational enterprises to the markets where consumers are located; and Pillar Two, which
is focused on establishing a global minimum corporate taxation rate. In June 2021, the finance ministers of the G7 nations
announced an agreement on the principles of the two-pillar approach. Subsequently, in October 2021, the OECD/G20
Inclusive Framework announced that 136 countries and jurisdictions had joined an agreement on the two-pillar approach,
including the establishment of a global minimum corporate tax rate of 15%. The OECD aims for a multilateral convention on
Pillar One to be signed in 2022 and implemented in 2023. The aim for Pillar Two is for domestic legislation to be introduced
during the course of 2022 and become effective in 2023 and for treaty changes to be implemented by a multilateral
instrument in 2024. Changes in tax treaties, the introduction of new legislation, updates to existing legislation, or changes
to regulatory interpretations of existing legislation as a result of these or similar proposals could impose additional taxes on
businesses and increase the complexity, burden and cost of tax compliance in countries where we operate. An increase in
excise taxes or other taxes could adversely affect the financial results of AB InBev as well as its results of operations.

Antitrust and competition laws and changes in such laws or in the interpretation and enforcement thereof, as well as being
subject to regulatory scrutiny, could affect AB InBev's business or the businesses of its subsidiaries. For example, in
connection with AB InBev’s previous acquisitions, various regulatory authorities have imposed (and may impose) conditions
with which AB InBev is required to comply. The terms and conditions of certain of such authorizations, approvals and/or
clearances required, among other things, the divestiture of the company’s assets or businesses to third parties, changes to
the company’s operations, or other restrictions on the company’s ability to operate in certain jurisdictions. Such actions could
have a material adverse effect on AB InBeV's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. In addition,
such conditions could diminish substantially the synergies and advantages which the company expects to achieve from such
future transactions.

AB InBev operates its business and markets its products in emerging markets that, as a result of political and economic
instability, a lack of well-developed legal systems and potentially corrupt business environments, present it with political,
economic and operational risks. Although AB InBev is committed to conducting business in a legal and ethical manner in
compliance with local and international statutory requirements and standards applicable to its business, there is a risk that
the employees or representatives of AB InBev’s subsidiaries, affiliates, associates, joint ventures/operations or other
business interests may take actions that violate applicable laws and regulations that generally prohibit the making of
improper payments to foreign government officials for the purpose of obtaining or keeping business, including laws relating
to the 1997 OECD Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in International Business Transactions such
as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K. Bribery Act.

Although AB InBev’s operations in Cuba are quantitatively immaterial, its overall business reputation may suffer or it may
face additional regulatory scrutiny as a result of Cuba being a target of U.S. economic and trade sanctions. In addition, in
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January 2021, the former Trump Administration designated Cuba as a state sponsor of terrorism. If investors decide to
liquidate or otherwise divest their investments in companies that have operations of any magnitude in Cuba, the market in
and value of AB InBev’s securities could be adversely impacted. In addition, Title 11l of U.S. legislation known as the “Helms-
Burton Act” authorizes private lawsuits for damages against anyone who traffics in property confiscated without
compensation by the Government of Cuba from persons who at the time were, or have since become, nationals of the
United States. Although this section of the Helms-Burton Act has been suspended by discretionary presidential action since
its inception in 1996, on 2 May 2019, the former Trump Administration activated Title Ill of the Helms-Burton Act, thereby
allowing nationals of the United States that hold claims under the Helms-Burton Act to file suit in U.S. federal court against
all persons trafficking in property confiscated by the Cuban government.

As a result of the activation of Title 11l of the Helms-Burton Act, AB InBev may be subject to potential U.S. litigation exposure
beginning 2 May 2019, including claims accrued during the prior suspension of Title Il of the Helms-Burton Act. Given the
unprecedented activation of Title Il of the Helms-Burton Act, there is substantial uncertainty as to how the statute will be
interpreted by U.S. courts. AB InBev has received notice of a claim purporting to be made under the Helms-Burton Act. It
remains unclear how the activation of Title Il of the Helms-Burton Act will impact AB InBev’s U.S. litigation exposure with
respect to this notice of claim.

AB InBev relies on the reputation of its brands and its success depends on its ability to maintain and enhance the image
and reputation of its existing products and to develop a favorable image and reputation for new products. An event, or series
of events, that materially damages the reputation of one or more of AB InBev's brands could have an adverse effect on the
value of that brand and subsequent revenues from that brand or business. Further, any restrictions on the permissible
advertising style, media channels and messages used may constrain AB InBev’s brand building potential and thus reduce
the value of its brands and related revenues.

AB InBev may not be able to protect its current and future brands and products and defend its intellectual property rights,
including trademarks, patents, domain names, trade secrets and know-how, which could have a material adverse effect on
its business, results of operations, cash flows or financial condition, and in particular, on AB InBev’s ability to develop its
business.

If the business of AB InBev does not develop as expected, or if the adverse economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic
continue, impairment charges on goodwill or other intangible assets may be incurred in the future that could be significant
and that could have an adverse effect on AB InBev's results of operations and financial condition.

Climate change or other environmental concerns, or legal, regulatory or market measures to address climate change or
other environmental concerns, could have a long-term, material adverse impact on AB InBev’s business and results of
operations. In addition, social attitudes, customer preferences and investor sentiment are increasingly influenced by
environmental, social and corporate governance (“ESG”) considerations, and as a result AB InBev may face pressure from
its shareholders, regulators, suppliers, customers or consumers to further address ESG-related concerns, and may be
subject to regulatory inquiry or legal action. Further, water scarcity or poor water quality may affect AB InBev by increasing
production costs and capacity constraints, which could adversely affect AB InBev’s business and results of operations.
Additionally, AB InBevV’s inability to meet its compliance obligations under EU emissions trading regulations may also have
an adverse impact on AB InBev’s business and results of operations.

AB InBevV's operations are subject to environmental regulations, which could expose it to significant compliance costs and
litigation relating to environmental issues.

Further, AB InBev may be exposed to labor strikes, disputes and work stoppages or slowdowns, within its operations or
those of its suppliers, or an interruption or shortage of raw materials for any other reason that could lead to a negative impact
on AB InBev’s costs, earnings, financial condition, production level and ability to operate its business. AB InBev’s production
may also be affected by work stoppages or slowdowns that affect its suppliers, distributors and retail delivery/logistics
providers as a result of disputes under existing collective labor agreements with labor unions, in connection with negotiations
of new collective labor agreements, as a result of supplier financial distress or for other reasons. A work stoppage or
slowdown at AB InBev’s facilities could interrupt the transport of raw materials from its suppliers or the transport of its
products to its customers. Such disruptions could put a strain on AB InBev’s relationships with suppliers and customers and
may have lasting effects on its business even after the disputes with its labor force have been resolved, including as a result
of negative publicity.

AB InBev relies on information and operational technology systems, networks and services to support a variety of business
processes and activities, including procurement and supply chain, manufacturing, distribution and consumer marketing, and
process, transmit, and store electronic information. Although AB InBev takes various actions to prevent cyber-attacks and
to minimize potential technology disruptions, such disruptions could impact AB InBev’s business and expose it to legal
claims or regulatory penalties. For example, if outside parties gained access to AB InBev’s confidential data or strategic
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information and appropriated such information or made such information public, this could harm AB InBev’s reputation or its
competitive advantage, or could expose AB InBev or its customers to a risk of loss or misuse of information. More generally,
technology disruptions can have a material adverse effect on AB InBev’s business, results of operations, cash flows or
financial condition.

AB InBev may not be able to recruit or retain key personnel and successfully manage them, which could disrupt AB InBev’s
business and have an unfavorable material effect on AB InBev’s financial position, its income from operations and its
competitive position.

AB InBev’s business and operating results could be negatively impacted by social, technical, natural, physical, public health
or other disasters.

Although AB InBev maintains insurance policies to cover various risks, it also uses self-insurance for most of its insurable
risks. Should an uninsured loss or a loss in excess of insured limits occur, this could adversely impact AB InBev’s business,
results of operations and financial condition.

AB InBev’s ordinary shares currently trade on Euronext Brussels in euros, the Johannesburg Stock Exchange in South
African rand, the Mexican Stock Exchange in Mexican pesos and its ordinary shares represented by American Depositary
Shares (the “ADSs”) trade on the New York Stock Exchange in U.S. dollars. Fluctuations in the exchange rates between
the euro, the South African rand, the Mexican peso and the U.S. dollar may result in temporary differences between the
value of AB InBev’s ordinary shares trading in different currencies, and between its ordinary shares and its ADSs, which
may result in heavy trading by investors seeking to exploit such differences.

RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Note 28 of the 2021 consolidated financial statements on Risks arising from financial instruments contain detailed
information on the company’s exposures to financial risks and its risk management policies.

Changes in labels of alternative performance
measurements (“APMs”’)

Following a report on European Union (EU) issuers’ use of Alternative Performance Measures (i.e., non-IFRS measures, or
“APMs”), issued by the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) in December 2019, the company has relabeled
“non-recurring” items to “non-underlying” items.

Events after the balance sheet date

Please refer to Note 33 Events after the balance sheet date of the consolidated financial statements.

Corporate governance

For information with respect to Corporate Governance, please refer to the Corporate Governance section, which forms an
integral part of our annual report.
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Statement of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of AB InBev SA/NV certifies, on behalf and for the account of the company, that, to their knowledge,
(a) the financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards give
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company and the entities included in
the consolidation as a whole and (b) the management report includes a fair review of the development and performance of
the business and the position of the company and the entities included in the consolidation as a whole, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties they face.
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Independent auditors’ report

&

pwec

STATUTORY AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING OF
ANHEUSER-BUSCH INBEV NV/SA ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

We present to you our statutory auditor’s report in the context of our statutory audit of the consolidated financial statements
of Anheuser-Busch InBev NV/SA (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (jointly “the Group”). This report includes our report
on the consolidated financial statements, as well as the other legal and regulatory requirements. This forms part of an
integrated whole and is indivisible.

We have been appointed as statutory auditor by the general meeting d.d. 24 April 2019, following the proposal formulated
by the board of directors and following the recommendation by the audit committee and the proposal formulated by the
works’ council. Our mandate will expire on the date of the general meeting which will deliberate on the annual accounts for
the year ended 31 December 2021. We have performed the statutory audit of the consolidated financial statements of
Anheuser-Busch InBev NV/SA for three consecutive years.

Report on the consolidated financial statements
Unqualified opinion

We have performed the statutory audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information, and which is characterised by a consolidated statement of financial position total
of USD 217 627 million and a profit for the year of USD 6 114 million.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s net equity and consolidated
financial position as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
and with the legal and regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium.

Basis for unqualified opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in Belgium.
Furthermore, we have applied the International Standards on Auditing as approved by the IAASB which are applicable to
the year-end and which are not yet approved at the national level. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Statutory auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of our
report. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in Belgium, including the requirements related to independence. We have obtained
from the board of directors and Company officials the explanations and information necessary for performing our audit. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

consolidated financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life

As described in Notes 4, 14 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Company has recorded goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful life for an amount of $115 796 million and $38 320 million,
respectively, as of 31 December, 2021. Impairment analyses of goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets are performed annually and whenever a
triggering event has occurred, in order to determine whether the carrying
value exceeds the recoverable amount.

Impairment tests are conducted by management, in accordance with IAS
36, in which management applies a discounted cash flow approach based
on current acquisition valuation models for its cash-generating units showing
an invested capital to EBITDA multiple above 9x and valuation multiples for
its other cash-generating units. The Company uses a strategic plan based
on external sources in respect of macro-economic assumptions, industry,
inflation and foreign exchange rates, past experience and identified
initiatives in terms of market share, revenue, variable and fixed cost, capital
expenditure and working capital assumptions. Management’s cash flow
projections include significant judgement, estimates and assumptions,
related to the weighted average cost of capital and the terminal growth rate.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing
procedures relating to the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful life is a key audit matter are the following: (i) the high degree
of auditor judgment and subjectivity in applying procedures relating to the
valuation of the cash-generating units due to the significant amount of
judgment by management when developing this estimate, (ii) the audit effort
involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to
assist in evaluating the audit evidence obtained from these procedures and
(iii) the significant audit effort necessary in evaluating the significant
assumptions relating to the estimate, related to the weighted average cost
of capital and the terminal growth rate.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures
and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming
our overall opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. These procedures included testing the
effectiveness of controls relating to management’s
goodwill and indefinite-lived asset impairment testing,
including controls over the valuation of the Company’s
cash-generating units.

These procedures also included, among others, testing
management’s process for developing the fair value
estimates; evaluating the appropriateness of the
discounted cash flow model; testing the completeness,
accuracy, and relevance of underlying data used in the
models; and, with the assistance of professionals with
specialized skill and knowledge, evaluating the significant
assumptions used by management, related to the
weighted average cost of capital and the terminal growth
rate.

Evaluating management’'s assumptions involved
evaluating whether the assumptions used by
management were reasonable considering (i) the current
and past performance of the cash-generating unit, (ii) the
consistency with external market and industry data, (iii)
whether these assumptions were consistent with
evidence obtained in other areas of the audit and (iv)
analysis of sensitivities in the Company’s discounted cash
flow model.

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Uncertain tax positions

As described in Notes 4 and 30 to the consolidated financial statements,
significant judgment by management is required in determining the
worldwide provision for income tax. There are some transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Some
subsidiaries within the group are involved in tax audits and local enquiries
usually in relation to prior years. Investigations and negotiations with local
tax authorities are ongoing in various jurisdictions at the balance sheet date
and, by their nature, these can take considerable time to conclude. In
assessing the amount of any income tax provisions to be recognized in the
consolidated financial statements, estimation is made of the expected
successful settlement of these matters.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing
procedures relating to uncertain tax positions is a key audit matter are the
following (i) the high degree of auditor judgment and subjectivity in applying
procedures related to uncertain tax positions due to the significant amount
of judgment by management when developing this estimate, including a high
degree of estimation uncertainty relative to the numerous and complex tax
laws, frequency of tax audits, and the considerable time to conclude
investigations and negotiations with local tax authorities as a result of such
audits, and (ii) the involvement of professionals with specialized skill and
knowledge to assist in evaluating the audit evidence obtained from these
procedures.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures
and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming
our overall opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. These procedures included testing the
effectiveness of controls relating to completeness of the
uncertain tax positions, as well as controls over
measurement of the liability.

These procedures also included, among others, (i) testing
the information used in the calculation of the income tax
provisions, including intercompany agreements,
international, federal, and state filing positions, and the
related final tax returns; (ii) testing the calculation of the
income tax provision by jurisdiction, including
management’s assessment of the technical merits of tax
positions and estimates of the amount of tax benefit
expected to be sustained; (iii) testing the completeness of
management’s assessment of both the identification of
uncertain tax positions and possible outcomes thereof;
and (iv) evaluating the status and results of income tax
audits by the relevant tax authorities.

Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were
used to assist in the evaluation of the completeness and
measurement of the Company’s uncertain tax positions,
including evaluating the reasonableness of
management’s assessment of the chance of loss related
to tax positions and the application of relevant tax laws.
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Responsibilities of the board of directors for the preparation of the 